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I Board of Directors’ Report I

Summary of the Financial Year

· Net sales EUR 59 954 thousand (EUR 41 666 thousand)
· Operating profi t EUR 8 078 thousand (EUR 3 611 thousand)
· Operating profi t 13.5 percent (8.7%) of net sales
· International business operations’ share of net sales 46 percent (52%)
· Earnings per share EUR 0.45 (EUR 0.24)

The 2005 fi gures have been restated to comply with the adjusted 
accounting principles regarding license sales recognition. The Financial 
Statements have been prepared according to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

Board of Directors’ Report 1.1.–31.12.2006

REPORTING
The accounting principles applied in the fi gures 
of the Financial Statements have been adjusted 
compared with the previously published 2005 
Financial Statements. BasWare Group has adjusted 
the revenue recognition principles regarding license 
sales as well as the valuation principles regarding 
accounts receivables, as recommended by the new 
auditor. Additionally, the Group has previously in 
some cases at the end of the quarters entered license 
sales as revenue based on agreements where the 
actual license delivery has been delayed by some 
days. As a result, license sales have been recognized 
as revenue a month beforehand.

The 2006 Financial Statements have been prepared 
according to the adjusted accounting principles. 
Part of the agreements signed at the end of 2006 
will be recognized as revenue in the fi rst quarter of 
2007 as a result of the adjusted revenue recognition 
principles. The value of these agreements totals over 
EUR 3 million. BasWare assesses that the adjusted 
accounting principles have no effect on the Group’s 
fi nancial performance in the future.

BasWare issued a profi t warning on January 15, 
2007. Net sales have decreased by EUR 0.8 million 
compared with the preliminary information given 
on that date. The change results from the increase 
in the number of revenues to be recognized in 2007. 
Operating profi t has decreased by EUR 0.9 million 
compared with the preliminary fi gure of EUR 9.0 
million. 

BasWare has previously estimated that net sales of the 
Group compared with the previous year would grow by 
approximately 45%, corresponding to approximately 
EUR 62.0 million. Operating profi t was estimated to 
represent over 15% of net sales, corresponding to an 
operating profi t of EUR 9.3 million euros. 

Falling below the offi cial guidance is due to slightly 
weaker product sales. In addition, part of the 2006 

deals have been realized as Software as a Service 
(SaaS) deliveries instead of one-off items. Net sales 
accumulate then gradually due to monthly revenue 
recognition. 

BasWare acquired Analyste Corporation on January 
30, 2006. Analyste’s fi nancial statements are 
consolidated in the Group fi nancial statements from 
January 1, 2006 to July 31, 2006. The merger of 
Analyste to BasWare Corporation took place on 
August 1, 2006. 

NET SALES 
BasWare Group’s net sales grew by 44 percent during 
the fi nancial year and were EUR 59 954 thousand 
(EUR 41 666 thousand).

The sales of the Group’s own products grew by 38 
percent and were 32 percent (34%) of total net sales. 
Maintenance revenue and support services related to 
maintenance grew by 93 percent and were 31 percent 
(23%) of net sales. Consulting and service revenue 
grew by 20 percent and represented 34 percent 
(40%) of net sales. Other operations which consist 
mainly of license sales and maintenance revenues 
from third party hardware and software were 3 
percent (3%) of net sales. 

Reseller partners’ net share of product sales was 18 
percent (16%) or EUR 3 465 thousand (EUR 2 257 
thousand) in the fi nancial year. 

The international share of net sales was 46 percent 
(52%) in the fi nancial year. International business 
operations grew by 26 percent in the fi nancial year. 
Domestic operations grew by 64 percent.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
In 2006, BasWare Group’s operating profi t grew 
by 124 percent and was EUR 8 078 thousand (EUR 
3 611 thousand). Operating profi t represented 14 
percent (9%) of net sales. 
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The Group’s fi xed costs were EUR 47 427 (EUR 33 865 
thousand). Growth compared with the previous year 
was 40 percent. A signifi cant part of the growth in 
costs was attributed by the growing personnel due to 
the acquisition costs that totaled EUR 32 953 
thousand (EUR 22 569 thousand). 

BasWare’s research and development costs were 
EUR 10 925 thousand (EUR 6 204 thousand) or which 
EUR 2 454 thousand (EUR 1 154 thousand) or 23 
percent (19) were capitalized during the period. The 
amortization on development costs was EUR 462 
thousand (EUR 239 thousand). Research and 
development costs made 18 percent (15%) of net 
sales. Costs grew by 76 percent (35%) during the 
year. The growth results mainly from the acquisition. 

The Group’s profi t before taxes was EUR 8 287 
thousand (EUR 3 647 thousand). Profi t for the 
fi nancial year was 8 percent (5%) of net sales or 
EUR 4 986 thousand (EUR 2 229 thousand). 

Taxes for the fi nancial year were EUR 3 301 thousand 
(EUR 1 417 thousand) and tax rate was 40 percent 
(39%). Taxes for the period have been adjusted by 
a total of EUR 765 thousand (EUR 985 thousand) 
resulting from subsidiaries’ losses and IFRS 
adjustments as well as from tax assets and liabilities 
resulting from other accrual differences.
 
Earnings per share were EUR 0.45 (EUR 0.24). 

FINANCE AND INVESTMENTS
BasWare Group’s total assets of the balance sheet at 
the end of the fi nancial period were EUR 57 558 
thousand (EUR 31 228 thousand). A signifi cant part of 

the growth resulted from the acquisition. The Group’s 
cash and bank balances totaled EUR 8 975 thousand 
(EUR 9 987 thousand). Cash fl ows from operating 
activities were EUR 5 657 thousand (EUR 4 thousand) 
in the period. Cash fl ows from investments were 
EUR -6 119 thousand (EUR -3 283 thousand).

Equity ratio was 77.5 percent (68.2%) at the end 
of the fi nancial year and gearing was -18.4 percent 
(-41.1%). The Company had a total of EUR 758 
thousand (EUR 1 230 thousand) interest-bearing 
liabilities, of which current liabilities accounted for 
EUR 428 thousand (EUR 474 thousand).

Return on investment was 24.7 percent (21.4%) and 
return on equity 15.1 percent (13.9%) in the fi nancial 
year.

The Group’s capital expenditure was EUR 597 
thousand (EUR 794 thousand) in the period. This 
consisted of regular new and replacement investments 
resulting from growth. Gross investments which 
include, in addition to the previously mentioned, the 
capitalized research and development costs as well as 
the acquisition of Analyste, totaled EUR 25 315 
thousand (EUR 6 925 thousand).

As a result of fi nancial reporting according to IFRS, 
regular goodwill amortizations have been ceased. 
According to the impairment tests conducted there 
are no indications of impairments of assets. The 
amortization on intangible assets was EUR 1 469 
thousand (EUR 610 thousand), of which the 
amortization on the acquisition was EUR 660 
thousand (EUR 84 thousand).

The division of net sales geographically (primary segment by the location of assets):

Net sales   10–12/ 10–12/05 Change, 1–12/ 1–12/05 Change,
EUR thousand 2006 Restated  % 2006 Restated  %

Finland 10 918 6 349 72.0 41 028 26 111 57.1
Scandinavia 4 354 3 964 9.8 14 698 13 024 12.9
Europe 2 714 1 441 88.3 8 985  6 497 38.3
Other areas 1 119 553 102.5 3 512 2 077 69.1
Sales between segments -2 598 -1 484  -8 269 -6 043 
Group total 16 508 10 823 52.5 59 954 41 666 43.9

The division of operating profi t geographically (primary segment by the location of assets):

Operating profi t  10–12/ 10–12/05 Change, 1–12/ 1–12/05 Change,
EUR thousand 2006 Restated  % 2006 Restated  %

Finland 3 243 1 140 184.5 12 314 7 130 72.7
Scandinavia 20 160 -87.8 -45 -116 60.7
Europe -910 -972 6.4 -2 831 -2 379 -19.0
Other areas -531 -253 -109.5 -1 297 -976 -32.9
Operating profi t between segments -15 23  -62 -47 
Group total 1 807 97 1758.8 8 078 3 611 123.7

I Board of Directors’ Report I
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 
AND NEW PRODUCTS
Altogether 138 (79) people worked in the R&D unit at 
the end of 2006. This equals to 26 percent of the total 
personnel.

New BasWare products were delivered to the market 
in 2006. As a result of the acquisition of Analyste, 
BasWare extended its Enterprise Purchase to Pay 
portfolio with, for example, payment software. The 
products were launched under the BasWare brand 
in spring 2006.

During 2006, the development of both the BasWare 
Enterprise Purchase to Pay and the BasWare Financial 
Management product suites continued. The usability 
and compliance of the BasWare Invoice Processing 
solution was improved and a new version was 
launched during the year. The user interface of 
BasWare Purchase Management solution, part of the 
Enterprise Purchase to Pay portfolio, was renewed 
and new versions of the product were launched 
during the year. New versions of the value-added 
modules, BasWare Contract Matching, BasWare Order 
Matching and BasWare Document Archiving were also 
launched during the year.

New versions of BasWare Travel & Expense 
Management were launched during the year. The 
solution has a new web-based user interface and its 
usability was further improved. It now enables 
creating expense claims unrelated to travel. 

New versions of BasWare Group Consolidation, part of 
the BasWare Financial Management portfolio, and the 
related value-added modules, BasWare IFRS Package 
and BasWare Cash Flow, were launched during the 
year.

A new value-added module, BasWare Business 
Transactions Monitor, was launched on the market. 
The eInvoicing solution platform was upgraded during 
the year.

New value-added product, BasWare Key Performance 
Indicator (KPI) Reporting Tool was launched in the last 

quarter. The tool enables measuring purchase to pay 
process effi ciency with various business indicators. 
The product is integrated with BasWare Purchase 
Management, BasWare Invoice Automation and 
BasWare Travel & Expense Management solutions, 
enabling automatic data import directly to the 
reporting tool. 

During the year, the development of the new BasWare 
Contract Lifecycle Management value-added product 
was initiated. It integrates with the BasWare Enterprise 
Purchase to Pay solutions and automates the 
processing of contract-based orders and purchase 
invoices. 

PERSONNEL
BasWare Group employed on average 514 (362) people 
during the period and 528 (395) at the end of the 
year. The number of personnel grew by 34 percent 
compared with the end of the previous year and by 
3 percent compared with previous quarter end. 

The number of personnel working in Finland has 
slightly increased mostly due to the acquisition 
compared with the situation in the previous year. 
Altogether 66 percent (60%) of personnel work in 
Finland and 34 percent (40%) outside of Finland. 

The average age of the employees is 35.4 (34.8) 
years. Of them 34 percent hold a Master’s degree 
and 41 percent a Bachelor’s degree. 28 percent of 
employees are women; 72 percent are men.

For incentive purposes, the Company has a bonus 
program that covers the whole personnel. In the end 
of the period there was additionally one on-going 
warrant program and a long-term incentive program 
for the top management was introduced. Based on 
the program, warrants can be granted to the members 
of the top management.

BUSINESS OPERATIONS
The general economic outlook remained fairly good 
during the year. BasWare’s software generates cost 
savings to the customers and thus demand is not 
heavily dependant on the current economic situation.

Geographical distribution of personnel:

Personnel   10–12/  10–12/ Change 1–12/  1–12/ Change,
employed, in average 2006 2005  %  2006 2005  %

Finland 345 237 45.6 346 223 55.2
Scandinavia 93 88 5.6 89 75 18.7
Europe 66 55 20.0 62 50 24.0
Other areas 21 15 40.0 17 14 21.4
Group total 524 395 32.7 514 362 42.0

I Board of Directors’ Report I
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In an independent evaluation by Forrester Research, 
BasWare has been named as a leading electronic 
invoice presentment and payment vendor globally. 
BasWare is also estimated to have the largest market 
share of all vendors. BasWare estimates that the 
integrated concept formed by its products has a 
positive impact on the company’s competitiveness. 
The company’s strengths include long-term software 
development, fast implementation of ready-made 
solutions and worldwide distribution and support 
services. 

According to the world’s leading industry analysts, 
BasWare also became a major player in procurement 
solutions during 2006. Market analysts like Gartner 
estimate that the purchase management market as 
a whole is transferring into a productivity phase where 
the demand is expected to grow.

International share of BasWare Group’s net sales was 
46 percent (52%) in the period and international 
operations grew by 26 percent. In the end of the 
period the Company had software installations in over 
20 countries.

Enterprise Purchase to Pay operations grew by 48 
percent during the year and represented 88 percent 
(86%) of net sales. A total of 51 percent (61%) of net 
sales came from outside of Finland. 

Altogether 155 (135) new invoice processing and 
purchase management agreements were signed in 
Enterprise Purchase to Pay units in eight countries. 
The sales of BasWare Purchase Management picked 
up during the year and new customers include the 
City of Helsinki in Finland, Ernst & Young in the United 
Kingdom and ThiemeMeulenhoff in the Netherlands. 
The fi rst agreements for BasWare KPI Reporting Tool, 
launched in December, were signed with Monster and 
Chenaga Corporation in the United States. Other new 
customers include IKEA Russia, Sonic Corporation, 
Endemol Netherlands, Adecco UK, Catepillar Belgium, 
Maxygen ApS, M-real Corporation and Pöyry Group.

Financial Management operations grew by 18 percent 
in the period and represented 12 percent (15%) of net 
sales. A total of 3 percent (3%) of net sales came 
from outside of Finland. The unit signed 39 (34) new 
customer agreements in three countries related to 
the main products. New customers include FIM Group, 
Puukeskus Oy and Capman Oyj in Finland, Red Cross 
in Norway and DHL in Denmark. During the year, the 
competitiveness of the total offering was increased 
with new value added products, especially the 
BasWare Analyzer analysis tool that was sold to 16 
customers during the year as well as the new public 
sector package solution that was sold to seven 
Finnish municipalities towards the end of 2006. 
The package is used by for example the cities of 
Espoo, Oulu and Turku in Finland.

Reseller channel
Reseller operations through business partners were 
a signifi cant part of international operations in 2006. 
Strong reseller network ensures as wide as possible 
distribution of the Company’s products as well as 
needed service and support functions for customers. 
The partners are responsible for sales, marketing as 
well as for the service and support functions needed 
by the customers.

The subsidiaries in Germany, the Netherlands, France, 
United Kingdom and the United States as well as the 
global functions in the parent company have channel 
sales units that support existing partners and 
strengthen the indirect sales channel. The reseller 
channel organization was further strengthened 
during the fi nancial period by appointing a new Vice 
President to the Global Operations unit, responsible 
for managing international reseller operations.

At the end of 2006, BasWare had a total of 54 
business partners. Of these 46 were international 
resellers, operating in altogether 29 countries. 
Additionally BasWare has diverse marketing and sales 
partnerships in Europe and the United States.

In January–December, a net share of 18 percent (16%) 
of product sales has been achieved through the 
partner network which represents 13 percent (10%) 
of international operations’ net sales. 

Nordic
BasWare’s Nordic organization includes the Enterprise 
Purchase to Pay and Financial Management units in 
Finland, as part of the parent company, as well as the 
Scandinavian (Sweden, Denmark and Norway) unit. 
All the BasWare Enterprise Purchase to Pay and 
Financial Management products are sold in the Nordic 
countries, apart from the Analyste-based products 
which are currently sold only in Finland. Marketing and 
sales activities of the Financial Management products 
were initiated in Sweden and Norway in the beginning 
of 2005 and later that year in the spring in Denmark. 

Sales and other business operations are mainly 
handled by the own organization. There are 
altogether 28 resellers and 17 application service 
providers selling Analyste’s products in Finland. There 
are two Enterprise Purchase to Pay business partners 
in Sweden, one Enterprise Purchase to Pay partner 
in Iceland and one Financial Management partner in 
Denmark. 

As a whole, BasWare’s business units in Finland 
and Scandinavia achieved the sales objective for 
the fi nancial year. The Finnish Financial Management 
unit exceeded its objective. The Swedish and Danish 
subsidiaries achieved their objective moderately 
and the Norwegian unit exceeded its objective. 

I Board of Directors’ Report I
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Over 5 million invoices were transmitted through 
the BasWare Business Transactions service during 
the fi nancial year. The service is sold in the Nordic 
countries. The invoice volume of the service grew 
by 70 percent during the fi nancial year compared 
with 2005. 

Europe
Outside of Scandinavia, BasWare has European 
subsidiaries in the Netherlands, Germany, the United 
Kingdom and France. At the end of the year, there 
were altogether 31 partners that sold BasWare’s 
products in the area. Additionally, the Company has 
three partners in Southern Europe.
 
The European business area as a whole fell slightly 
behind the objective. All BasWare Enterprise Purchase 
to Pay products are sold in the area, including the 
BasWare Business Transactions service and electronic 
invoicing solutions. 

The Dutch subsidiary exceeded its objective for the 
fi nancial year. The operations of the subsidiary in the 
United Kingdom developed favorably during the year 
but fell slightly behind the objective. Also the German 
unit took a positive turn during the year but fell 
behind the objective. The French subsidiary signed 
several agreements towards the end of 2006, but 
fell behind the full year objective due to weak sales 
at the beginning of the year. 

Other areas
Outside of Europe, BasWare has a subsidiary in the 
United Stated which focuses on the sales of the 
Enterprise Purchase to Pay solutions in the United 
States and Canada. Additionally there are eight 
resellers in the area.

Of all the units, lisence sales of BasWare, Inc. 
developed the most favorably although the year 
end sales fell behind the objective and as a whole 
the unit fell slightly behind the objective. The objective 
for the unit is signifi cantly higher than for other units. 

The sales to other areas outside Europe, mainly to 
Australia, are handled through value added resellers. 
There are currently three resellers in the area. Their 
net sales are entered as a part of the Finnish parent 
company’s operations in segment reporting. The 
reseller operations in the area exceeded their 
objective in 2006.

OPERATING RISKS
BasWare takes risks that are a natural part of the 
strategy and objectives. These risks are managed 
and reduced in various ways. The Company is not 
ready to take risks that might endanger the continuity 
of operations or that are uncontrollable or would 
signifi cantly harm the Company’s operations. 

The goal of risk management is to systematically and 
extensively identify and acknowledge the risk involved 
in the operations as well as to make sure that the risks 
are appropriately managed when making business 
decisions. The company’s risk management supports 
the attainment of strategic goals and ensures the 
continuity of business operations. 

In the process of risk management, the goal is to 
identify and evaluate the risks, after which a risk-
specifi c plan is drawn up and concrete action is taken. 
These actions may include, for example, avoidance of 
the risk, diminishment of the risk by different means 
or transference of the risk by insurance or 
agreements.

BasWare has divided the risks into six categories: 
risks related to business operations, products, 
personnel as well as legal, fi nancial and data security 
risks. Each group has a designated person in charge. 
The essential risks have been recognized and 
measures for preparing for them undertaken. In 
2006, the Board monitored the progress regularly. 

Company’s international operations generate normal 
risks related to fi nancing. The goal of fi nancial risk 
management is to cost effectively ensure the Company 
to have suffi cient fi nancing as well as to monitor and 
if necessary limit the risks by certain measures. Risk 
management is centralized in the Group’s fi nance 
department. The department reports to the Company’s 
Board of Directors at least once a year according to the 
risk management policy. The Company did not realize 
hedging during the period.

The Board of Directors receives annually a report 
of the most signifi cant risks discovered during risk 
mapping. At the same time, the Board reviews the 
risks from the shareholder value’s perspective. Risk 
management does not have a separate organization 
within the Company but its responsibilities follow the 
distribution of liability throughout the organization 
and operations. 

ACQUISITIONS AND CHANGES IN 
GROUP STRUCTURE
On January 31, 2006 BasWare announced that it 
was to acquire the entire share capital of Analyste 
Corporation. The acquisition price was EUR 27.92 
million of which EUR 9.45 million was paid in cash 
and EUR 18.19 million in BasWare’s shares with two 
directed offerings to the shareholders of Analyste. 
The acquisition strengthened BasWare’s position in 
Finland and extended the Company’s portfolio to 
cover, for example, payment software. 

Trivet Software Oy was merged to BasWare Corp. on 
January 5, 2006. Analyste Oyj was transferred from 
a public limited-liability company to a limited-liability 

I Board of Directors’ Report I
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incorporated company on February 28, 2006. Analyste 
Oy was merged to BasWare Corp. on August 1, 2006. 

BasWare resolved on August 14, 2006 to centralize 
its Scandinavian operations into one unit. Odd Roar 
Trapnes was appointed Managing Director of the unit 
and he will report to CEO Ilkka Sihvo. The change 
improves the service level for Scandinavian customers 
as well as streamlines the cost structure of the area 
thanks to common administration and marketing 
operations. 

BasWare announced on December 1, 2006 that it 
incorporates its eInvoicing unit to an own company, 
called BasWare eInvoices. Petri Karjalainen acts as 
the Managing Director. BasWare is a signifi cant player 
in the Finnish eInvoicing market and the aim is to 
strengthen the position also internationally. 

ENVIRONMENT AND CORPORATE 
RESPONSIBILITY
The direct environmental impacts of BasWare’s 
operations are fairly minimal. BasWare’s solutions 
promote paperless operations and fi nancial 
management in the customer organizations which in 
part can contribute to the decrease of offi ce waste. 

The corporate headquarters in Espoo, Finland, follow 
an environmental management system that has been 
granted a WWF Green Offi ce Certifi cate. The Green 
Offi ce system aims at supporting everyday actions 
that save energy and raw material. Within the 
framework of the system, energy consumption and 
material consumption of the offi ce is measured.

The Company continued its cooperation with Plan 
Finland as part of its social responsibility program. 
Initiated in 2002, BasWare supports the living 
conditions and education of 14 children in developing 
countries. Additionally the Company has supported 
two development projects through the Plan Investor 
program.

OTHER EVENTS OF THE FINANCIAL PERIOD
BasWare Corporation’s Annual General Meeting 
(AGM) on February 15, 2006 adopted the Financial 
Statements of 2005 and discharged the members 
of the Board of Directors and the CEO from liability. 
The AGM resolved, according to the Board’s 
proposition, to distribute a dividend of EUR 0.10 
per share, a total of EUR 1 069 725.90 for 2005. 

New strategy
On September 12, 2006 BasWare Corp. published its 
new growth strategy and strategic goals for the years 
2007–2010. The objective for the future BasWare 
growth of net sales is 20-40 percent annually, with 
the operating profi t margin of 10-20 percent. 

According to its strategy, BasWare aims at growing in 
all of its markets. In the Nordic area the focus will be 
more on profi tability. More resources and focus will 
be directed to the strategic markets of United States, 
Germany, United Kingdom and France. In these areas 
growth will be high and profi tability will be reached in 
the mid-term. In distribution, focus is on transitioning 
more from direct to the indirect channel where 
multiple channel partners will be acquired. 

Expansion to selected new markets will take place 
according the following schedule: Southern and 
Eastern Europe from 2006 onwards, Russia and Asia 
Pacifi c from 2007 onwards. Indirect channel is widely 
used in these areas. BasWare’s global presence is 
further strengthened by several global alliances and 
by the development of the channel program. The 
number of channel partners will be multiplied by the 
year 2010.

BasWare Invoice Processing is still the volume product 
in most of the markets and in the indirect channel. 
BasWare’s growth will be supported by several new 
products for direct and indirect global distribution. 
In BasWare Enterprise Purchase to Pay portfolio this 
includes BasWare Purchase Management, BasWare 
Travel & Expense Management and BasWare Payment. 
Other BasWare products will be distributed in selected 
international markets.

BasWare has completed its organic growth with 
acquisitions. BasWare continues to review possible 
acquisition targets. With the acquisitions, BasWare 
can extend the sales channel and the product 
portfolio. They may also strengthen BasWare’s 
position in the electronic invoicing market.

BasWare’s vision is that by 2010 the company is 
recognized as the leading software company for 
Enterprise Purchase to Pay software solution suite 
in all of its key markets. BasWare is known for high 
customer satisfaction and innovativeness as well as 
being a credible and secure business partner for the 
customers. BasWare has a focused and unique 
Enterprise Purchase to Pay software solution suite 
for the global marketplace. BasWare’s other products 
are distributed and supported in selected markets. 
Its packaged software products are easy to use, 
fast to implement and provide a rich end-to-end 
functionality. BasWare has one million end users in 
fi fty countries by 2010. Its presence covers all major 
markets worldwide with more than ten subsidiaries 
and 150 reseller partners. BasWare is an attractive 
employer with committed, result-driven employees 
who have competence in international business.

BasWare’s vision of future growth and profi tability is 
realized with BasWare’s strong global presence with 
a clear focus on major markets and expansion to 
selected new markets, excellent customer relationship 

I Board of Directors’ Report I
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management strengthened by effective marketing 
actions, clear segmentation and customer benefi ts as 
well as with the highly competitive product portfolio, 
committed international personnel and everyday 
operational excellence.

According to its mission, BasWare provides value for 
fi nancial processes with leading-edge process 
automation software. BasWare is a forerunner 
constantly meeting the needs of its customers. 

MANAGEMENT AND AUDITOR
Ilkka Sihvo acted as the CEO of the Company in 2006. 
The CEO is in charge of the day-to-day management of 
the Company in accordance with the instructions and 
orders given by the Board, as well as by the 
Companies Act. 

The Annual General Meeting on February 15, 2006 
elected six members to the Board of Directors. Their 
term will last until the closing of the following AGM 
on February 26, 2007. Kirsi Eräkangas, Ossi Pohjola, 
Antti Pöllänen and Hannu Vaajoensuu were re-elected 
to the Board. Tom Bangemann and Asko Ahonen were 
elected as new members to the Board. In its fi rst 
meeting on February 15, 2006, the Board elected 
Hannu Vaajoensuu as Chairman of the Board and 
Kirsi Eräkangas as Vice Chairman.

In 2006, the auditor of BasWare was Deloitte & 
Touche, Authorized Public Accountants, with APA 
Eero Lumme in charge. 

SHARE AND SHARE CAPITAL
In 2006, the Company’s share capital was increased 
by a total of EUR 477 259.80 in two directed offerings 
and by share subscription based on warrants. At the 
end of 2006, the Company’s share capital was EUR 
3 440 437.20 and the number of shares 11 468 124.

Warrant programs
In its meeting on April 7, 2006, BasWare Corporation’s 
Board of Directors resolved, based on the authorization 
given by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 
on February 15, 2006, to establish a new warrant 
program. Based on the warrant program, a maximum 
of 300 000 warrants can be granted to the key 
personnel of BasWare Group, each warrant entitling 
to subscribe one BasWare share. The warrants of the 
Warrant Program 2006 are divided into three series, 

each having an own subscription period as follows: 
April 1, 2008–March, 31 2009, April 1, 2009–March 31, 
2010 and April 1, 2010–March 31, 2011. The subscription 
prices of the shares correspond to the volume-
weighted average share price of the Company in 
January–March of 2006, 2007 and 2008. The terms 
and conditions of the program have been published 
as a stock exchange release on April 10, 2006.

The subscription period of BasWare Finland II 2002–
2006 warrant program ended on June 30, 2006. 
Atotal of 160 030 shares were subscribed with 
program of which 127 350 shares in 2006. A total 
number of 49 970 warrants were not given and were 
therefore nullifi ed.  

Board authorizations
The Board of Directors authorization for share issue 
is in effect until February 14, 2007. According to the 
authorization, the share capital can be increased with 
a maximum of EUR 641 835.30 and 2 139 451 new 
shares. Based on the authorization, two directed 
offerings were carried out in March 2006 and a new 
warrant program launched in April 2006 and to launch 
a new warrant program in April 2006. The share 
capital can still be increased by EUR 170 635.80 and 
568 786 new shares based on the authorization.

BasWare Corporation does not own BasWare shares 
and the Board does not have the authorization to 
purchase BasWare’s shares.

Shareholders
At the end of 2006, BasWare had 19 759 (21 679) 
shareholders. Nominee registered holdings 
represented 12.3 percent of the share capital. There 
were no notices in change of ownership in 2006. 

The Company applies the Guidelines for Insiders 
issued by the Board of Directors of the Helsinki 
Stock Exchange as well as the Recommendation on 
Corporate Governance with the exceptions mentioned 
in the Company’s Corporate Governance Statement. 
The statement can be found in the Investors section 
of the Company’s website. 

Share price and trade
During 2006, the highest price of the share on the 
Helsinki Stock Exchange was EUR 15.25 (EUR 13.00) 
and the lowest price EUR 11.21 (EUR 7.70). On the last 

 Number of shares Share capital, EUR

Share capital 1.1.2006 9,877,258 2,963,177.40

Directed offering 31.1. +820,001 246,000.30
Directed offering 8.3. +643,515 193,054.50
Share subscriptions based on warrants 21.4. +7,500 2,250,
Share subscriptions based on warrants 20.7. +119,850 35,955
Share capital 31.12.2006 11,468.124 3,440,437.20  

I Board of Directors’ Report I
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day of trading in 2006, BasWare’s closing rate was 
EUR 13.05 (EUR 12.62). The average price of the 
share in 2006 was EUR 13.09 (EUR 9.85). Market 
capitalization with the period’s closing price was 
EUR 149 659 018 (EUR 124 650 996). 

A total number of 5 534 522 shares were traded 
during 2006 (3 666 939 in 2005) which is the 
equivalent of 48 percent (39%) of the number of 
shares at the end of 2006. 

FUTURE OUTLOOK
According to research institutions, the global 
enterprise software market will grow by approximately 
5–7 percent annually. However, regional growth may 
outstrip this; for example in Asia Pacifi c annual growth 
is estimated at over 12 percent. BasWare operates in 
the electronic procurement and purchase invoice area, 
which is expected to grow more rapidly than the 
average for enterprise software. 

Western Europe and the United States represent 
approximately three quarters of overall demand for 
enterprise software. Since invoice processing and 
purchase management software remain at the 
beginning of their lifecycles in these regions, demand 
is estimated to be high.

The purchase management and invoice processing 
software markets are relatively heterogeneous with 
regards to the competitive situation. However, strong 
growth may attract more competitors to the market. 
The industry is consolidating rapidly and this 
development is expected to continue in the future. 
Comparing consolidation trends between industries, 
it can be seen that software companies are small on 
average in international terms. BasWare is a medium 
sized software company on a global scale, in terms of 
sales and number of personnel. 

BasWare’s direct competitors are mainly smaller 
companies that operate locally. In invoice processing 
in particular, local competition is increasing due to 
document management, scanning and workfl ow 
solution developers. Competing solutions also include 
tailored software solutions that complement 
Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) systems and 
require extensive client-specifi c project work.

The competitiveness of the software is still good due 
to new value added products and the integrated 
concept that the products form. 

The Company’s international growth is based on the 
Company’s own sales and marketing efforts as well as 

on reseller operations. The development of the indirect 
channel continues especially in Europe and North 
America, in Russia and in Asia. In Scandinavia, the 
focus is on profi tability, supported by the extending 
product poftfolio. In Finland, the focus is on 
profi tability and the moderate growth is enabled by 
the success in the purchase management area.

BasWare has complemented its organic growth with 
acquisitions. The Company continues to review 
possible acquisition targets during 2007. With the 
acquisitions, the Company can extend the sales 
channel and the product portfolio. They may also 
strengthen the Company’s position in the electronic 
invoicing market. 

In 2007, BasWare expects the growth of net sales for 
the fi nancial year to be from 15 to 20 percent 
compared with the Group’s net sales in the previous 
year. Operating profi t (EBIT) is expected to be from 
10 to 15 percent of net sales.

BOARD’S DIVIDEND PROPOSAL
BasWare is a growth company that aims for increasing 
the value of shareholders’ investments and for 
moderate dividend distribution. When preparing the 
dividend proposal, the Board takes into notice the 
Company’s fi nancial position, profi tability and 
prospects in the near future. 

At the end of 2006, the Group’s the parent company’s 
distributable funds are EUR 19 540 493.24.

The Board of Directors of BasWare Corporation 
proposes to the Annual General Meeting that from the 
fi nancial year 2006, a dividend of EUR 0.15 per share 
(2005: EUR 0.10) be paid, a total of EUR 1 720 218.60 
with the number of shares at the end of the fi nancial 
period.

In Espoo, Finland, February 7, 2007

Board of Directors 

Hannu Vaajoensuu, Chairman of the Board
Asko Ahonen
Tom Bangemann
Kirsi Eräkangas 
Ossi Pohjola
Antti Pöllänen

Ilkka Sihvo, CEO 

I Board of Directors’ Report I
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Group Income Statement 1.1.–31.12.2006

  1.1.–31.12.2006 1.1.–31.12.2005 
EUR thousand Notes  Restated Change, %

NET SALES  3, 4 59 954 41 666 43.9
    
Other operating income 6 177 60 193.1
Materials and services 7 -2 593 -3 172 -18.3
Employee benefi ts expenses 8 -32 953 -22 569 46.0
Depreciation and amortization  -2 033 -1 077 88.9
Other operating expenses 9 -14 474 -11 296 28.1
Operating profi t  8 078 3 611 123.7
    
Finance income 10 308 146 110.8
Finance expenses 10 -99 -111 -10.4
Profi t before tax  8 287 3 647 127.2
    
Income tax expense 11 -3 301 -1 417 132.9
PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD  4 986 2 229 123.7
    
Earnings per share (basic), EUR 12 0.45 0.24 89.6
Earnings per share (diluted), EUR 12 0.44 0.23 91.3

I Group Financial Statements 2006, IFRS I
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  1.1.–31.12.2006 1.1.–31.12.2005 
EUR thousand Notes  Restated Change, %

ASSETS    

Non-current assets
Intangible assets 13 9 980 4 040 147.0
Goodwill 13 18 477 4 481 312.3
Tangible assets 14 784 729 7.5
Investments in associates 15  3 -100.0
Available-for-sale investments 16 2 612  
Trade and other receivables   24 -100.0
Deferred tax assets 21 3 501 3 296 6.2
Non-current assets  35 354 12 573 181.2
    
Current assets    
Inventories 17 20 9 125.1
Trade and other receivables 18 13 018 8 616 51.1
Income tax receivables 18 192 43 340.7
Financial assets at fair value through profi t or loss 19 5 963  
Cash and cash equivalents 20 3 012 9 987 -69.8
Current assets  22 204 18 655 19.0
    
ASSETS  57 558 31 228 84.3
      
    
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    
    
Shareholder’s equity    
Share capital 23 3 440 2 963 16.1
Share premium account 23 33 127 15 010 120.7
Fair value fund  540  
Translation differences  235 -203 215.7
Retained earnings  7 176 3 527 103.5
Parent company’s shareholders’ equity   44 518 21 296 109.0
Minority interest  88  
Shareholder’s equity  44 606 21 296 109.5
    
Non-current liabilities     
Deferred tax liability 21 1 462 283 416.2
Interest-bearing liabilities 24, 25 329 757 -56.5
Non-current liabilities  1 791 1 040 72.2
    
Current liabilities    
Interest-bearing liabilities 24, 25 428 474 -9.6
Trade payables and other liabilities 24 9 957 8 066 23.4
Tax liability from income tax 24 775 352 120.1
Current liabilities  11 160 8 892 25.5
    
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  57 558 31 228 84.3

Group Balance Sheet 31.12.2006

I Group Financial Statements 2006, IFRS I



13  www.basware.com Financial Statements 2006

  1.1.–31.12.2006 1.1.–31.12.2005
EUR thousand  Restated
     
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
    
Profi t for the period 4 986 2 229
Adjustments for profi t    
 Employee benefi ts 114 67
 Depreciation and amortization 2 033 1 077
 Finance income and expenses -83 -36
 Unrealized profi ts and losses -127 
 Income taxes 3 301 1 417
 Other adjustments -4 3
Total adjustments for profi t 5 235 2 528
    
Working capital changes   
 Increase (-)/decrease (+) in inventories -11 23
 Increase (-)/decrease (+) in short term non-interest bearing receivables -2 882 649
 Increase (-)/decrease (+) in short term non-interest bearing liabilities 1 991 -2 321
Total working capital changes -902 -1 648
    
Interest paid -41 -72
Interest received 70 140
Other fi nancial items in operating activities 57 -41
Income taxes paid -3 750 -3 133
Net cash from operating activities 5 657 4
    
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
   
Purchases of tangible and intangible assets -3 021 -1 849
Proceeds from sale of tangible and intangible assets 64 11
Acquisitions of subsidiaries -3 660 -1 445
Disposal of associated companies 23 
Proceeds from other investments 457 
Granted loans -1
Repayments of loan receivables 24 
Net cash used in investing activities -6 114 -3 283
    
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  
  
Proceeds from issuance of share capital 760 9 056
Minority’s capital investment 95 
Repayments of long-term borrowings -400 -511
Repayments of fi nancial lease liabilities -75 -79
Dividends paid  -1 070 -1 037
Net cash used in fi nancing activities -689 7 428
    
Net change in cash and cash equivalents according to cash fl ow statement -1 146 4 150

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 9 987 5 789
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents -19 49
Effects of fair value implementation 152 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 8 975 9 987
Net change in cash and cash equivalents -1 146 4 150

In the cash fl ow statement, cash and cash equivalents constitute from the following instalments: Cash and bank receivables 
and Financial assets at fair value through profi t or loss. 

Group Cash Flow Statement 1.1.–31.12.2006

I Group Financial Statements 2006, IFRS I
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I Group Financial Statements 2006, IFRS I

Group Statement of Changes in 
Shareholders’ Equity 1.1.2006–31.12.2006

    Transla-  
  Share Fair tion  
 Shareholders’ premium value differ- Retained Minority  
EUR thousand equity  account  fund ences earnings interest Total

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 1.1.2005 2 582 6 000  -70 3 647  12 159
- restatement     - 1 264  -1 264
RESTATED SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 2 582 6 000  -70 2 383  10 895
       
Restated change in translation difference    -133 -129  -262
Granted warrants     81  81
Restated net profi t / loss recognized
directly in shareholders’ equity      -133 -49  -181
       
Restated profi t for the period     2 229  2 229
Restated total profi ts and losses    -133 2 181  2 048
       
Total profi ts and losses (breakdown)       
- previously reported    -141 3 053  2 912
- restated    8 -872  -864
Restated total profi ts and losses    -133 2 181  2 048
       
Dividend distribution     -1 037  -1 037
Rights issue 272      272
Warrants used 109 2 073     2 182
Share premium  7 058     7 058
Tranaction costs for equity  -121     -121
RESTATED SHAREHOLDERS’        
EQUITY 31.12.2005 2 963 15 010  -203 3 527  21 296

       
    Transla-  
  Share Fair tion  
 Shareholders’ premium value differ- Retained Minority  
EUR thousand equity  account  fund ences earnings interest Total

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 1.1.2006 2 963 15 010  -203 3 527  21 296
       
Change in translation difference    438 -198  240
Share-related compensation     -108  -108
Granted warrants     32  32
Other changes   540    540
Restated net profi t / loss recognized
directly in shareholders’ equity     540 438 -274  704
       
Profi t for the period     4 993 -7 4 986
Total profi ts and losses     540 438 4 719 -7 5 690
       
Dividend distribution     -1 070  -1 070
Rights issue 439      439
Warrants used 38 912     950
Share premium  17 211     17 211
Transaction costs for equity  -6     -6
Business transfer      95 95
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 31.12.2006 3 440 33 127 540 235 7 176 88 44 606

Dividend per share was EUR 0.10 for 2005 and EUR 0.12 for 2004.
The Company has restated the comparative fi gures as described in the note 2. The restatements have been presented 
in the calculation.
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BasWare Corp. is a public Finnish company founded 
according to the Finnish law. The company’s domicile 
is Espoo, Finland. The shares of the parent company 
BasWare Corporation are listed on the Helsinki Stock 
Exchange since 2000. BasWare develops software for 
purchase management, electronic processing of 
invoices and fi nancial management. 

The Board of Directors has accepted the fi nancial 
statements to be published on February 8, 2007.

1. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES OF THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Accounting principles 
BasWare Corporations’ fi nancial statements have been 
prepared according to the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS), approved to be used in EU 
countries, with the standards and interpretations valid 
on December 31, 2006. New principles applied for the 
fi rst time in the fi nancial period have no signifi cant 
effect on the Group Financial Statements. The Group’s 
Financial Statements are presented in euro thousand 
and they are based on acquisition costs unless 
otherwise stated in the accounting principles.

BasWare Group transferred to reporting according 
to IFRS as of January 1, 2005. The transition date to 
IFRS was January 1, 2004. Prior to that, the Group’s 
fi nancial statements were prepared according to the 
Finnish Accounting Standards (FAS). In accordance 
with the exception included in the IFRS 1 the 
acquisitions prior to the IFRS transition date have 
not been restated but the previous values are taken 
as the deemed cost. Moreover, the cumulative 
translation differences of the shareholders’ equity 
have been recognized to accrued profi ts as permitted 
in the exemptions.   

The Company has resolved to apply in its Group 
Financial Statements the IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures standard and IAS 1 Presentation of 
Financial Statements standard with the published 
amendments as well as the following interpretations 
that have not yet been applied in the Group Financial 
Statements:

• IFRIC 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under 
IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinfl ationary

• Economies (applied for annual periods beginning on 
or after March 1, 2006)

• IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2 (applied for annual periods 
beginning on or after May 1, 2006)

• IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives 
(applied for annual periods beginning on or after 
June 1, 2006)

Notes to the Financial Statements

• IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment 
(applied for annual periods beginning on or after 
October 1, 2006)

These interpretations are estimated not to have a 
signifi cant impact on the Group’s profi t and balance 
sheet. 

The Company has restated the 2005 Group Financial 
Statements according to principles further described 
in the Board of Directors’ Report and in the notes to 
the Group Financial Statements.

Principles of consolidation
Group fi nancial statements include the parent 
company BasWare Corporation and the subsidiaries 
under its authority. The parent company’s authority 
is based on full ownership of the share capital of all 
the subsidiaries. The Company does not own shares 
in joint enterprises nor in associated companies.

The subsidiaries have been merged to the Group 
fi nancial statements as of the acquisition date. 
Group companies’ mutual share ownership has been 
eliminated by way of purchase method. Acquired 
companies are accounted for using the purchase 
method according to which the assets and liabilities 
of the acquired company are measured at their fair 
value at the date of acquisition. Deferred taxes of the 
acquisition cost adjustments have been booked 
according to the valid tax base and the remainder 
has been recognized as Group business value on the 
balance sheet. 
 
The Group’s internal business transactions as well 
as internal receivables and liabilities have been 
eliminated in the Group fi nancial statements. Minority 
interest is separated from the profi t and shareholders’ 
equity on the balance sheet and the corresponding 
fi gures are reported separately in the Group income 
statement and in the shareholders’ equity on the 
balance sheet. 

Segments
The risks and profi tability related to the products and 
services vary according to the Group’s geographical 
segments. Likewise, the risks and profi tability related 
to business operations vary according to products, 
services and maintenance. 

In segment reporting, the geographical segment has 
been defi ned as the primary segment and business 
operations as the secondary segment. The segment 
division coincides with the Group’s internal reporting 
structure. 

I Notes to the Group Financial Statements, IFRS I
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The geographical segments are Finland, Scandinavia, 
Europe and other areas. Business operations 
segments are product sales, consulting and services, 
maintenance and support as well as other operations.

According to the transfer pricing regulations of the 
Group, transactions between Group companies are 
conducted on so called Arm’s length terms. For product 
sales and maintenance services, the Comparable 
Uncontrolled Price Method is applied in the transfer 
pricing according to the principles of OECD’s transfer 
pricing guidelines. For other services, the Cost Plus 
method is applied.

Transactions in foreign currencies 
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at 
the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the 
individual transactions. In practice, a rate that is close 
enough to the rate of transaction date is used. At the 
end of the accounting period, the unsettled balances 
on foreign currency receivables and liabilities are 
valued at the rates of exchange prevailing at the end 
of the accounting period. Exchange differences for 
transactions are entered in the appropriate income 
statement account before operating profi t.
 
On the Group fi nancial statements, income 
statements of the foreign subsidiaries are converted 
to euros according to the median exchange rate 
of the fi nancial period whereas the balance sheets 
are converted according to the exchange rate on the 
last day of the fi nancial period. Foreign exchange 
differences due to different rates of exchange on the 
income statement and balance sheet are entered in 
translation differences of the retained earnings. From 
the transition date onwards exchange differences 
arising on the translation of the net investment are 
recorded in translation difference, which is a separate 
component of equity. 

Revenue recognition
Revenue recognition of product sales requires that 
there is a binding agreement of the product sale, the 
delivery of the product has taken place, proceeds of 
the operating activities can be reliably determined, 
that the fi nancial gain will benefi t the company with 
suffi cient probability and that the signifi cant benefi ts 
and risks related to the product and its user rights 
have been transferred to the buyer. License 
agreements with return rights or conditions 
regarding the product’s functionality or delivery 
project will be recognized as revenue once the return 
right has expired or when the aforementioned 
conditions have been fulfi lled. 

Service revenue is recognized at the time of delivery. 
Maintenance revenue is allocated to a contract period. 

When calculating net sales, sales revenue is adjusted 
according to the exchange rate differences in the sales 
currency.

Other operating income
Other operating income includes proceeds from the 
sale of fi xed assets and rental revenue. 

Operating profi t
The IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 
standard does not defi ne the concept of operating 
profi t. The Group uses the following description for 
operating profi t: operating profi t is the net sum that 
forms when other operating income is added to net 
sales, deducted with the cost of purchase for fi nished 
goods which is adjusted with inventory changes, 
deducted with costs resulting from employee benefi ts, 
depreciation and possible impairment loss as well 
as other operating expenses. All other items of the 
income statement are presented below operating 
profi t. Exchange differences and fair value changes 
of derivatives are included in operating profi t, 
provided that they result from items related to 
business operations; otherwise they are entered in 
fi nancing items.

Measurement principles
The Group Financial Statements have been prepared 
according to historical costs apart from fi nancial 
assets at fair value through profi t or loss and 
available-for-sale investments.

Impairment
The Group performs an annual impairment test 
of goodwill and those intangible assets that have 
limitless useful lives in case of possible impairments. 
Additionally regular evaluation of indications of 
impairment is performed. In case of such indications, 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 
or asset is evaluated. Additionally, annual evaluation 
of recoverable amount is performed for the following 
assets despite of impairment indications: goodwill 
and intangible assets that have limitless useful lives.
 
An impairment loss is recognized whenever the 
carrying amount of asset or cash-generating unit 
exceeds the recoverable amount. If there is a positive 
change in the estimated recoverable amount of 
money, depreciation loss related to tangible fi xed 
assets and other intangible assets, excluding goodwill, 
is nullifi ed. An impairment loss is only reversed to 
the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if 
no impairment loss had been recognized. Additionally, 
the impairment loss of equity instruments that are 
recorded for available-for-sale fi nancial assets is not 
reversed through profi t and loss.

Goodwill 
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the cost of the 
acquisition over the acquirer’s share of the net fair 
values of the acquired company’s identifi able assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities.

I Notes to the Group Financial Statements, IFRS I
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Goodwill is directed to those cash-generating units 
that are expected to gain from the synergy benefi ts 
resulting from combining business operations. 
Goodwill is not amortized regularly but instead tested 
annually for impairment; book value of the cash-
generating unit and goodwill allocated to the unit are 
compared to the unit’s recoverable amount (value in 
use). If the value in use is lower than the book value, 
the amortization is entered as an expense on the 
income statement and allocated primarily to goodwill 
on the balance sheet. 

Value in use is based on cash fl ows according to three 
year predictions and business plans. The cash fl ows 
for the two years following this period are estimated 
by extrapolating using steady growth expectations. 
The employed discount taxes refl ect the views on risks 
and time value of money. 

Other intangible assets 
Other intangible assets include software and activated 
research and development costs. Intangible assets are 
entered on the original acquisition costs less possible 
impairment and accumulated depreciation according 
to plan. Public subsidies related to the acquisition of 
intangible fi xed asset commodities are deducted from 
the acquisition cost of the asset and recognized as 
income by reducing the depreciation charge of the 
asset they are related to. The useful lives for 
intangible assets are 3 to 5 years. 

Research and development costs 
Research expenses are booked as an expense as they 
are incurred. Product development expenses are 
booked so that development costs of totally new 
products and product versions with signifi cant new 
features are capitalized and amortized during their 
useful lives. When defi ning the useful lives, the aging 
of technology and typical product life cycle in the 
industry is taken into account. Amortization is initiated 
once the product is launched. Maintenance of existing 
products and their minor development are booked as 
an expense as they are incurred. Product development 
projects prior to 2004 have not been capitalized as 
the amount of capitalization cannot be reliably 
determined. Unfi nished development projects are 
impairment tested on the day of closing of the books.  
 
Tangible assets 
Aineellisiin hyödykkeisiin kuuluu koneita ja kalustoa. 
Tangible assets include machinery and equipment. 
The balance sheet value of tangible assets is stated 
at acquisition costs, less accumulated depreciation 
according to plan and possible impairment. The useful 
lives for tangible assets are 3 to 5 years. 

Leases
Financial lease liabilities are defi ned as lease 
agreements of fi xed assets of which a signifi cant 
amount of risks and benefi ts typical of ownership are 
transferred to the Group. Finance leases are stated, at 

inception of the lease, at an amount equal to their fair 
value or, if lower, the present value of the minimum 
lease payment. Commodities acquired with fi nancial 
lease liabilities are amortized according to plan and 
possible depreciation loss is booked. Leasing liabilities 
deducted with fi nancing costs are included in other 
short and long term liabilities. 

Other lease agreements have been used to acquire 
rights to leased cars and offi ce equipment. 

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are receivables generated from 
product sales, sales of software user rights and 
services. They are entered according to original value. 
Trade receivables are categorized according to their 
nature to short or long term trade receivables. 

Cash and cash equivalents
The Group’s cash and cash equivalents are categorized 
according to the following: 
• fi nancial assets through profi t or loss
• held-to-maturity investment
• loans and receivables
• available-for-sale fi nancial assets

Financial assets are classifi ed when originally acquired 
based on their purpose of use.

Financial assets at fair value 
through profi t or loss
Financial assets that belong to this category meet the 
following criteria: they are acquired as held for 
trading, or they are designated as at fair value through 
profi t or loss upon initial recognition. Financial assets 
at fair value through profi t or loss constitute from 
cash invested in short-term interest funds. The Group 
has no derivative contracts at the time of the closing 
of the books.

Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative 
fi nancial assets with fi xed or determinable payments 
and fi xed maturity that the Group has the positive 
intent and ability to hold to maturity. 

They are valued at periodized acquisition cost and are 
included in long-term assets. At the time of the closing 
of the books, there were no such fi nancing items on 
the balance sheet.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative fi nancial 
assets with fi xed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market and a not held by the 
company with intent to sell. Loan and receivables are 
valued at allocated cost. They are included in short 
or long-term trade receivables and other receivables 
category on the balance sheet in accordance with 
their nature. If the receivable matures in over 12 
months, it is categorized in long-term receivables.

I Notes to the Group Financial Statements, IFRS I
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Available-for-sale fi nancial assets
Available-for-sale fi nancial assets are non-derivative 
fi nancial assets that are designated as available for 
sale or are not classifi ed into other categories. They 
are included in long-term assets unless they are 
intended to be held for less than 12 months as of the 
day of closing of the books in which case they are 
included in short-term assets. Available-for-sale 
fi nancial assets are valued at fair value. 

Changes in the fair value of available-for-sale fi nancial 
assets are entered in the fair value reserve in equity, 
taking into account the tax effect. Changes in fair 
value are transferred from equity to the income 
statement when the instrument is sold or its value has 
fallen so that an impairment loss has to be recognised 
for the instrument.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are originally entered in fair value 
in accounting. Transaction costs have been included in 
the original carrying amount of fi nancial liabilities. All 
fi nancial liabilities are later valued at the periodized 
acquisition cost using the effective interest rate 
method. Financial liabilities are divided into long-term 
and short-term liabilities and they can either be 
interest-bearing or non interest-bearing.

Impairment of sales receivables and fi nancial 
assets
Based on a risk assessment , an impairment is made 
case-by-case for uncertain sales receivables. 

Additionally, an assessment is conducted on each 
day of closing of the books to determine if there is 
objective evidence of depreciation of an item or 
a category included in the fi nancial assets.

Provisions 
A provision is recognized when the Group has a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
a past event, it is probable that the obligation will have 
to be settled, and the amount of the obligation can be 
reliably estimated.

Pensions
The compulsory pension coverage of personnel 
employed by BasWare Corporation (parent company) 
is provided through insurance policies taken out with 
a pension institution. Pension coverage for personnel 
employed by units outside Finland is arranged in line 
with the requirements of local legislation and social 
security provisions. Compulsory pension expenses are 
expensed in the year they are incurred. There are no 
defi ned benefi ts.

Warrants 
The Group has warrant arrangements that are paid in 
the Company’s shares. IFRS 2 Share-based payments 

standard is adapted to warrants that have been 
issued after November 7, 2002 and of which the 
subscription period has not started before January 1, 
2005. Such warrants are assessed to fair value on the 
date when the warrants are granted, and recognized 
as cost during the vesting period. The fair value is 
defi ned using the Black–Scholes warrant pricing 
model. The Group updates the estimate of the fair 
value on each closing day of the books. Changes in 
the estimates are entered on the income statement. 
When warrants are used, settlements received based 
on share subscriptions are entered in the share 
capital and share premium account.

Taxation
The tax expenses on the income statement are formed 
from the tax based on the taxable income for the 
fi nancial year and deferred taxes. Tax expenses are 
entered in the income statement except for the 
expenses entered directly to shareholders’ equity 
when they are entered on the balance sheet as part 
of equity. Taxes based on the results of the Group 
companies are recorded according to the local tax 
rules of each country. 

Deferred taxes are calculated from all temporary 
differences between book value and taxable value. 
Temporary differences are not provided for goodwill, 
which is not deductible for tax purposes. Deferred tax 
is not recognised for non-distributed profi ts of 
subsidiaries in so far as the difference is not likely 
to be discharged in the foreseeable future. 

Upon closing of the books, a company-specifi c 
assessment of the amount of tax receivables included 
on the balance sheet conducted and it is reduced for 
the part when it is likely that it cannot be utilized in 
the taxation of the company in question. Deferred tax 
liabilities are wholly included on the balance sheet.

Accounting principles requiring 
management’s consideration and key 
uncertainties relating to the estimates
When preparing the fi nancial statements, estimates 
and supposition regarding the future have to be made. 
Realization may however differ from these estimates. 
Additionally, discretion must be used when applying 
the accounting principles. The estimates are based on 
the best views of the management at the time of the 
closing of the books. Possible changes in the estimates 
and suppositions are recorded in accounting in the 
period when the estimate or supposition is adjusted 
and in all the following fi nancial periods. 

The management believes that the estimates and 
suppositions are accurate enough to be used a basis 
for fair value assessment. Additionally, the Group 
reviews the possible indications of depreciation 
regarding both tangible and intangible assets on each 
day of closing of the books, at the latest.
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The estimates are mainly related to measurement 
of assets, current sales receivables, utilization of 
deferred tax assets and capitalization of product 
development expenses.  

The Group performs an annual impairment test of 
goodwill and those intangible assets that have 
limitless useful lives in case of possible impairments. 
Indications of impairment are assessed as depicted 
earlier. Recoverable amounts of cash-generating units 
have been determined by calculations based on value 
in use. More information on the measurement of 
intangible assets in company mergers can be found in 
note 3. Product development costs are capitalized in 
intangible assets regarding new products as well as 
product versions with signifi cant upgrades and 
amortized during its useful life after the product has 
been completed.

According to adjustments made to 2005 net sales, the revenue is differed as follows:

Net sales, unrestated 1.1.–31.12.2005  42 810
+ The transfer of net sales from the period 2004 into the year 2005 1 690 
 - The transfer of net sales from the period 2005 into the year 2006 -2 835 -1 145
Net sales, restated 1.1.–31.12.2005  41 666

Effects of the restatements on the 2005 income statement and balance sheet:

GROUP INCOME STATEMENT
 1.1.–31.12.2005  1.1.–31.12.2005
EUR Thousand Unrestated Restated Restated
   
NET SALES 42 810 -1 145 41 666
   
Other operating income 60  60
Materials and services -3 172  -3 172
Employee benefi ts expences -22 569  -22 569
Depreciation and amortization -1 077  -1 077
Other operating expences -11 296  -11 296
Operating profi t 4 756 -1 145 3 611
   
Finance income and expences 146  146
Finance expences -111  -111
Profi t before tax 4 792 -1 145 3 647
   
Income tax expence -1 695 278 -1 417
PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 3 097 -867 2 229
   
Earning per share (basics), EUR 0.33 -0.09 0.24
Earning per share (diluted), EUR 0.32 -0.09 0.23
 

2. ADJUSTMENT OF ACCOUNTING 
PRINCIPLES AND RESTATEMENTS 
TO COMPARATIVE FIGURES 
The Group’s accounting principles have been adjusted 
compared with the previously published 2005 
Financial Statements. As a result, the 2005 
comparative fi gures for the Financial Statements 
have been restated.

BasWare has adjusted its accounting principles 
regarding the revenue recognition of license sales and 
sales receivables, as recommended by the new auditor. 
Additionally, BasWare has in some cases in the end of 
the quarters entered license sales as revenue based 
on agreements where the actual license delivery has 
been delayed by some da. 
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GROUP BALANCE SHEET
 31.12.2005  31.12.2005
EUR Thousand Unrestated Restated Restated

ASSETS   
   
Non-current assets   
Intangible assets 4 040  4 040
Goodwill 4 481  4 481
Tangible assets 729  729
Investments in associates 3  3
Trade and other receivables 24  24
Deferred tax asset 2 582 714 3 296
Non-current assets 11 859 714 12 573
   
CURRENT ASSETS   
Inventories 9  9
Trade and other receivables 12 014 -3 398 8 616
Income tax receivables 43  43
Cash and cash equivalents 9 987  9 987
Current assets 22 053 -3 398 18 655
   
Total assets 33 912 -2 684 31 228
   
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   
   
Shareholders’ equity   
Share Capital 2 963  2 963
Share premium account 15 010  15 010
Translation differences -211 8 -203
Retained earnings 5 662 -2 136 3 527
Shareholder’s equity 23 424 -2 127 21 296
   
Non-current liabilities   
Deferred tax liability 283  283
Interest-bearing liabilities 757  757
Non-current liability 1 040  1 040
   
Current liablities   
Interest-bearing liabilities 474  474
Trade liabilitys and other liabilities 8 623 -557 8 066
Tax liability from income tax 352  352
Current liabilities 9 448 -557 8 892
   
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 33 912 -2 684 31 228

The reported 2004 fi gures have not been restated in the fi ve-year time series presented in the Financial 
Statements as the required data has not been previously registered and the required information could not be 
reliably obtained to calculate the opening balance sheet on January 1, 2004. The cumulative restatements for the 
previous fi nancial periods have been presented in the retained earnings of the balance sheet on January 1, 2005.

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION
Primary segment
BasWare Group’s operations are mainly lead as 
geographical entities. The structure of the primary 
segment is determined by geographical location: 
Finland, Scandinavia, Europe and other areas. In the 
fi nancial statements of 2005 and 2006, other areas 
include the United States.

Profi t, assets and liabilities are allocated to 
geographical segments according to the location of 
assets. Therefore the revenues for reseller activities 
in Australia and Iceland, conducted from Finland, are 
included in the Finnish geographical segment. 
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GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS (primary segment)

     
1.1.–31.12.2006  Scandi-   Elimi- Not Group
EUR thousand Finland navia  Europe Others  nations  allocated  total
 
INCOME STATEMENT INFORMATION         
External net sales 33 871 14 034 8 713 3 335   59 954
Internal net sales 7 157 664 272 177 -8 269  
Net sales 41 028 14 698 8 985 3 513 -8 269  59 954
       
Operating profi t of the segment 12 314 -45 -2 831 -1 297 -62  8 078
Operating profi t       8 078
       
Finance income and expenses      209 209
Income tax expense      -3 301 -3 301
Profi t for the period 9 328 -374 -2 751 -1 172 -46  4 986
Profi t for the period       4 986
       
BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION       
Segment’s assets 40 706 4 738 3 735 1 220 -8 139  42 259
Non-allocated assets      15 298 15 298
Total assets 40 706 4 738 3 735 1 220 -8 139  57 558
       
Segment’s liabilities 6 515 5 091 6 917 2 936 -11 502  9 957
Non-allocated liabilities      2 994 2 994
Total liabilities 6 515 5 091 6 917 2 936 -11 502  12 951
       
OTHER INFORMATION       
Net sales, goods 9 757 4 067 4 565 1 932   20 320
Net sales, services 24 115 9 967 4 149 1 403   39 634
Investments 22 058 63 68 5   22 193
Depreciation and amortization -1 731 -160 -61 -19 -62  -2 033
               

According to the transfer pricing regulations of the 
Group, transactions between Group companies are 
conducted on so called Arm’s length terms. For 
product sales and maintenance services, OECD’s 
Comparable Uncontrolled Price Method is applied 
in the transfer pricing regulations according to the 
principles of OECD’s transfer pricing guidelines. 
For other services, the so called Cost Plus method 
is applied.

Secondary segment
The following business segments are defi ned as the 
secondary segment: product sales, consulting and 
services, maintenance and support as well as other 
operations.  

Product sales include the revenue from the licence 
sales of BasWare’s own products through group 
companies as well as through resellers. Also ASP 
lease-based licence sales are entered in product sales. 

Work related to customer projects, such as software 
installation, business consulting and project 
management are included in the Consulting and 
services segment. Project work is typically conducted 
by the consulting units. Transaction based payments 
of BasWare Business Transactions eInvoicing service 
as well as the monthly fees of the service are also 
entered in services.

Yearly maintenance fees as well as the customer work 
of the personnel in the support units are included in 
the Maintenance and support segment.

Other operations include profi t from the sales and 
maintenance of third party software and equipment.

Assets and investments are allocated to segments 
according to the primary function of the cost center. 
Non-allocated assets include cash and bank 
receivables, tax receivables, furniture entered in fi xed 
assets as well as capitalized research and development 
costs. There is no non-allocated profi t.
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1.1.–31.12.2005  Scandi-   Elimi- Not Group
EUR thousand Finland navia  Europe Others  nations  allocated  total
         
INCOME STATEMENT INFORMATION         
External net sales 20 605 12 661 6 406 1 994   41 666
Internal net sales 5 506 363 91 83 -6 043   
Net sales 26 111 13 024 6 497 2 077 -6 043  41 666
         
Operating profi t of the segment 7 130 -116 -2 379 -976 -47  3 611
Operating profi t       3 611
         
Finance income and expenses      36 36
Income tax expense      -1 417 -1 417
Profi t for the period 5 376 -242 -1 989 -881 -35  2 229
Profi t for the period       2 229

BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION         
Segment’s assets 14 265 4 271 2 841 458 -3 936  17 899
Investments in associates 3      3
Non-allocated assets      13 326 13 326
Total assets 14 268 4 271 2 841 458 -3 936  31 228
         
Segment’s liabilities 5 456 4 689 3 950 1 432 -7 460  8 066
Non-allocated liabilities      1 866 1 866
Total liabilities 5 456 4 689 3 950 1 432 -7 460  9 932
         
OTHER INFORMATION         
Net sales, goods 6 507 4 315 3 344 861   15 027
Net sales, services 14 098 8 346 3 062 1 133   26 639
Investments 2 875 365 85 30 3 571  6 925
Depreciation and amortization -783 -166 -57 -24 -47  -1 077

Business segments (secondary segment)

1.1.–31.12.2006  Consulting  Maintenance Other Not
EUR thousand Product sales  and services  and support operations allocated Total

Net sales 19 374 20 106 18 776 1 698  59 954
Assets 4 615 5 572 1 403 7 222 38 746 57 558
Investments 132 88 47  21 927 22 193
      
1.1.–31.12.2005  Consulting  Maintenance Other Not
EUR thousand Product sales  and services  and support operations allocated Total
Net sales 14 044 16 725 9 714 1 183  41 666
Assets 3 422 4 769 859 237 21 941 31 228
Investments 244 85 53  6 543 6 925

4. NET SALES BY CUSTOMER LOCATION

EUR thousand  1.1.–31.12.2006 1.1.–31.12.2005

Finland 32 557 19 830
Scandinavia 14 129 13 042
Europe 9 421 6 434
Other areas 3 848 2 360
Net sales 59 954 41 666
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5. ACQUIRED GROUP COMPANIES
BasWare acquired Analyste Corporation on January 30, 
2006. Analyste’s fi nancial statements are consolidated 
in the Group fi nancial statements from January 1, 2006 
to July 31, 2006. The merger of Analyste to BasWare 
Corporation took place on August 1, 2006. The 
purchase cost for Analyste was EUR 28 369 thousand 
of which EUR 9 909 thousand was paid in cash and 
EUR 18 190 thousand in a directed offering. 

A total of 1 463 516 new shares were issued in the 
directed offering, valued EUR 12.429, corresponding 
to the average trading price on the day of the 
agreement. The value of the share on the date of the 
agreement was EUR 0.369 higher than estimated. The 
increase in purchase cost resulting from the difference 
has been entered in the fund for fair value reserve. 

BasWare acquired the entire share capital of Analyste 
Oyj in January 2006. Analyste develops fi nancial 
software for payment transactions between 
companies and banks, electronic processing of 
invoices as well as cash management and fi nancing 
planning. The fi nal purchase cost for the share capital 
was EUR 28 369 thousand. In addition to the 
purchase price, it includes capital transfer tax and 
specialist fees for a total of EUR 454 thousand.

A total of EUR 3 184 thousand of the purchase cost 
was allocated to customer relations and EUR 953 
thousand to products. The fair value of customer 
relations has been defi ned using the Multi-period 
Excess Earnings method where the net cash fl ows of 
the commodity are calculated, with the assumption 
that the assets required to generate the cash fl ow 
had been rented from a third party. The value related 
to customer relations will be amortized within 10 
years. The fair value of acquired software products 
has been defi ned using the Relief-from-royalty 
method. The method is used to calculate the current 
value of net cash fl ows assuming that a license fee 
would have been paid to a third party for the sale of 
the commodity. When defi ning the license fees, the 
license practices of both the companies were applied, 
as well as the general licence practices used in the 
fi eld. The value related to products will be amortized 
within 5 years. 

The net value of assets including the fair value 
allocations was EUR 14 478 thousand. A total of EUR 
13 891 thousand of the purchase price was recorded 
as goodwill. The goodwill results from professional 
employees, the expected synergy benefi ts and the 
good profi tability of the acquired business operations.

In the listing prospectus published on February 10, 
2006 the Company described the synergy benefi ts 
to be achieved: “The market position of the new 
Group will strengthen in Finland. This enables more 
effi cient and profi table sales operations as sales and 
marketing resources can be better allocated and the 
product portfolio extends. The larger clientele offers 
more opportunities for the sale of value added 
products. As a result of the merger, many of the 
functions can be performed in a more effi cient 
manner. In research and development, the work 
contribution of several people can be transferred 
from Analyste’s old domestic products to the 
products of the new Group holding more potential. 
As a result, the recruitment need for research and 
development personnel can be covered for at least 
the next 12 months and subcontracting replaced. The 
internationalization of Analyste’s products can be 
realized effectively through BasWare’s international 
operations. Cost savings can be achieved in domestic 
sales and markets by eliminating overlapping and 
directing the customer sales cases of small and 
medium-sized enterprises to the reseller channel. 
Also the unifi cation of the consulting and customer 
service units can make the operations more effi cient 
and at the same time improve the quality of the 
delivered services. By combining the administration 
and support functions savings of several man-years 
can be achieved. Additionally, procurement, data 
transfer, software and other administration costs 
can be lowered. Also the offi ce locations generate 
savings when the locations in Tampere and the 
metropolitan area can be combined. Synergy benefi ts 
total approximately EUR 0.8–1.0 million in 2006 
and EUR 1.4–1.6 million in 2007. Restructuring costs 
related to the merger are approximately EUR 
0.3 million.” 

In the Interim Report published on October 10, 2006, 
the Company adjusted its estimate according to the 
following: “The estimate of the synergy benefi ts 
achieved by the merger of BasWare and Analyste 
has been further defi ned. Synergy benefi ts are 
estimated to total EUR 1 300 thousand in 2006 and 
approximately EUR 2 million in 2007. The savings 
will be realized as of the second quarter of 2006.”

The effect of the acquisition on the Group’s net sales 
in January–July is EUR 5 759 thousand, representing 
9.3 percent of the total net sales for the fi nancial 
year. Analyste’s effect on the profi t for January–July 
was EUR 1 956 thousand, representing 24.2 percent 
of the operating profi t for the fi nancial year.
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Analyste Oyj  
Acquisition date: 30.1.2006

   Acquiree’s carrying
EUR thousand   Fair value amount, FAS

Tangible assets 323 323
Intangible assets  
- customer relations 3 184 
-software products 953 
-R&D costs  638 
Investments 3 122 2 774
Trade and other receivables 1 543 1 543
Cash and cash equivalents 8 047 6 856
Total assets 17 809 11 496
     
Deferred tax liability 1 746 
Trade and other payables 1 586 1 586
Total liabilities and other items 3 331 1 586
     
Net assets 14 478 9 910
Goodwill through acquisition 13 891
 
Total acquisition cost 28 369
 
Part of acquisition cost paid with direct issue 18 190
 
Part of acquisition cost paid with cash 9 909
Part of acquisition cost paid with accruals 270
 
Acquired company’s fi nancial assets 8 047  

Cash fl ow effect of entities acquired in the fi nancial period 1 862

A total of EUR 638 thousand of the research and 
development costs for the eOffi ce product were 
activated at the time of the acquisition. Additionally, 
investments in interest rate funds and shares in real 
estate companies have been entered at fair value. 
The fair value of the real estate is based on the 
assessment of an independent realtor. Market value 
of the acquisition time was used to defi ne the fair 
value of the interest rate funds.   

In 2005, BasWare acquired the Norwegian Iocore AS 
(BasWare AS) that was selling BasWare’s products and 

services as well as Trivet Oy that develops travel 
management software. The remainder of the 
acquisition price of Iocore AS, EUR 1 798 thousand 
was paid in 2006. Trivet Oy was merged to the parent 
company in January 2006 and the fi nal purchase cost 
totalled EUR 1 300 thousand after the conditional 
amount of the purchase price was further defi ned. 
The conditional purchase price was based on the 
license sales between July 1, 2005–January 1, 2007, 
the conditional share totalling a maximum of EUR 
450 thousand, with the realized amount being 
EUR 379 thousand.
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6. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

EUR thousand 1.1.-31.12.2006 1.1.-31.12.2005

Rental income 2 
Other operating income 144 54
Gain on disposal of non-current assets 31 7
Other operating income 177 60

7. MATERIALS AND SERVICES

EUR thousand 1.1.-31.12.2006 1.1.-31.12.2005
 
Purchases during the period -1 612 -1 108
Increase / decrease in inventories 3 -23
External services -983 -2 041
Materials and services -2 593 -3 172

8. PERSONNEL AND RELATED PARTIES

 1.1.-31.12.2006 1.1.-31.12.2005

Personnel in average
Finland 346 223
Scandinavia 89 75
Europe 62 50
Other areas 17 14
Personnel total 514 362

EUR thousand 1.1.-31.12.2006 1.1.-31.12.2005
  
Employee benefi ts expenses
Salaries and fees -26 942 -18 443  
Pension expenses, defi ned benefi t plans -3 139 -2 006
  
Granted warrants -114 -67
Other employee benefi ts -2 758 -2 053
Other employee benefi ts total -2 872 -2 121
  
Employee benefi ts expenses -32 953 -22 569
  
Management and Board salaries, fees and benefi ts 
  
CEO of parent company -143 -181
  
Compensation of the members of the Board of Directors  
Hannu Vaajoensuu -87 -162
Kirsi Eräkangas -28 
Esa Korvenmaa -10 -2
Ossi Pohjola -22 -10
Tom Bangemann -20 
Asko Ahonen -21 
Total -331 -354
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Key management compensation
  
Short-term employee benefi ts -2 726 -2 617
Post-employment benefi ts -279 -264
Benefi ts related to termination of employment  -139
Equity-related benefi ts -114 -67
Management compensation -3 119 -3 087

Compensation of the members of the Board of Directors, the executive team as well as the managing directors of 
the subsidiaries has been taken into notice in management compensation. 

Pension benefi ts of the members of the Board and the CEO are pursuant to employment pension legislation. 
Additionally, one member has voluntary pension insurance where the retirement age is determined as 58 years.

Warrants
Warrants have been granted to the key personnel to increase their commitment and work motivation. The 
valuation model used is Black–Scholes, It is estimated in the calculations that there will be no personnel cuts. 
The expected volatility is based on the volatility of the year preceding the date of issue of warrants.

Warrants Finland II C 2006A

Date of issue 20.11.2003– 1.3.2006 12.12.2006
Issued number 66 210 87 300
Subscription price 6.79 13.35
Volume-weighted price on the date of issue 9.37 12.45
Volume-weighted fair value on the date of issue 2.96 1.67
Expected volatility 25% 25%
Risk free interest 2.35% 4.00%
Expected dividends 2.00% 2.00%

There are no other related party transactions.

9. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

EUR thousand 1.1.-31.12.2006 1.1.-31.12.2005

Rents -1 896 -1 531
Non-statutory employee benefi ts -615 -518
Loss on disposal of non-current assets -27 -9
  
Audit fees -116 -79
Other fees and services -37 -35
Audit fees total -153 -114
  
Travel expenses -2 792 -2 327
Marketing expenses -2 242 -1 933
IT and telephone expenses -1 235 -853
Other expenses -5 514 -4 011
Total -11 783 -9 124
  
Other operating expenses total -14 474 -11 296

Research and development expenses  
Research and development in income statement -8 471 -5 050
Increases in capitalized research and development expenses -2 454 -1 154
Research and development expenses total -10 925 -6 204
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10. FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES

EUR thousand 1.1.-31.12.2006 1.1.-31.12.2005

Finance income  
Other interest and fi nancial income 156 146
Unrealized profi t for fi nancial assets at fair value 152 
Finance expenses  
Other interest and fi nancial income -74 -111
Unrealized losses, avaible-for-sale investments -25 
Finance income and expenses total 209 36

Finance income is formed from the proceeds of fund investments and expenses for the loan interests.

 
Exchange differences recognized on income statement  
Exchange differences included in net sales -4 16
Exchange differences included in purchases and expenses -139 55
Foreign exchange gains 1 1
Foreign exchange losses -6 -5
Exchange differences recognized on income statement -148 66

11. INCOME TAXES

EUR thousand 1.1.-31.12.2006 1.1.-31.12.2005

Direct tax  
Income tax on operations -4 108 -2 408
Tax for previous accounting periods 41 6
Change in deferred tax liabilities and tax assets 765 985
Tax on income from operations -3 301 -1 417
  
Tax base reconciliation  

Profi t before taxes 8 287 3 647
  
Mathematical tax based on parent company’s tax rate *) -2 155 -948
Effect on different tax rates applied to foreign subsidiaries -305 -308
Non-deductible expenses -1 53
Non-taxable income -1 
Tax for previous accounting periods 41 6
Unrecognized tax on loss for the period -639 -163
Deferred tax -241 -57
Tax provision on income statement -3 301 -1 417

*) Parent company’s tax rate was 26 percent in 2005 and 2006.

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

EUR thousand 1.1.-31.12.2006 1.1.-31.12.2005
  
Profi t for the period 4 986 2 229
  
Average share number, 1 000 pieces  
- undiluted 11 173 9 458
- diluted 11 221 9 583
The effect of warrants on the number of shares was, on average, 48 thousand in 2006.  
  
EPS (undiluted), EUR 0.45 0.24
EPS (diluted), EUR 0.44 0.23

Dividend per share
The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting of shareholders on February 26, 2007 that
 a dividend of EUR 0.15 per share be paid.
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Goodwill has been impairment tested in the last 
quarter of 2006 and the discount rate is 9.5 percent. 
The cost of debt has not been taken into account in 
the discount rate. The recoverable amount evaluated 
in the impairment test is based on the 2007 budged 
and on the later development assessed on the base of 
the budged. Key variables used are the change rates 
of net sales and costs. The growth of net sales has 
been determined by taking into account the company’s 
realized development, market position in the market 
in question and general growth expectations.

Based on the test, the management of the Company 
estimates that it is unlikely that the expected change 
in the key variables used in the test would create a 
situation where the accounting value of goodwill 
included in the balance sheet would exceed the 
recoverable amount of the unit or units.

   Intangible Assets,
Intangible assets 2006 Development Intangible assets, unfi nished
EUR thousand  costs rights fi nance lease projects Total

Acquisition cost 1.1. 1 388 2 994 77 1 001 5 461
Translation difference -4 -15   -21
Acquisitions through business combinations  4 136  638 4 775
Additions  195  2 454 2 649
Reclassifi cations between items 2 350   -2 350 
Acquisition cost 31.12. 3 735 7 311 77 1 743 12 865
      
Cumulative amortization 1.1. -252 -1 117 -51  -1 420
Translation difference 2 2   4
Amortization -462 -984 -23  -1 469
Cumulative amortization 31.12. -712 -2 100 -74  -2 885
     
Book value 31.12.2006 3 023 5 211 3 1 743 9 980
     

Goodwill
EUR thousand 2006
Acquisition cost 1.1. 4 481
Translation difference -49
Additions 14 045
Acquisition cost 31.12. 18 477

Book value 31.12.2006 18 477
 
 
Goodwill
EUR thousand 2005
Acquisition cost 1.1. 997
Translation difference -47
Additions 3 532
Acquisition cost 31.12. 4 481

Book value 31.12.2005 4 481

Goodwill comprises of the following arrangements:

Corporate restructuring Goodwill
Momentum Doc, AB (2002) 987
Iocore AS / BasWare AS (2005) 2 930
Trivet Oy (2005) 669
Analyste Oyj (2006) 13 891
Total 18 477

Goodwill has been allocated to cash-generating units 
according to the synergy benefi ts expected to result from 
unifying the operations:

Cash generating unit Goodwill
BasWare Oyj 16 025
BasWare AB 987
BasWare AS 1 465
Total 18 477

13. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
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14. TANGIBLE ASSETS

  Machinery and
Tangible assets 2006 Machinery and equipment,
EUR thousand equipment fi nance lease Works of art Total

Acquisition cost 1.1. 2 812 200  3 012
Translation difference 2 -3  -1
Acquisitions through business combinations 788  49 837
Additions 340 3 9 352
Disposals -80   -80
Acquisition cost 31.12. 3 863 200 58 4 121
    
Cumulative depreciations 1.1. -2 164 -120  -2 283
Translation difference -5 3  -2
Cumulative depreciation on acquisitions -514   -514
Accrued depreciation on deductions and transfers 26   26
Depreciation -514 -50  -564
Cumulative depreciation 31.12. -3 170 -167  -3 337 
    
Book value 31.12.2006 693 33 58 784

  Machinery and
Tangible assets 2005 Machinery and equipment,
EUR thousand equipment fi nance lease Works of art Total

Acquisition cost 1.1. 2 421 44  2 465
Translation difference -3   -3
Acquisitions through business combinations 87 141  228
Additions 347 15  362
Disposals -39   -39
Acquisition cost 31.12. 2 812 200  3 012
     
Cumulative depreciations 1.1. -1 755 -16  -1 770
Translation difference 5   6
Cumulative depreciation on acquisitions -43 -40  -83
Accrued depreciation on deductions and transfers 32   32
Depreciation -403 -64  -467
Cumulative depreciation 31.12. -2 164 -120  -2 240
    
Book value 31.12.2005 649 80  729

   Intangible Assets,
Intangible assets 2005 Development Intangible assets, unfi nished
EUR thousand  costs rights fi nance lease projects Total

Acquisition cost 1.1. 822 1 441 73 240 2 575
Translation difference  -2   -2
Acquisitions through business combinations 174 1 173   1 346
Additions 210 383 4 944 1 541
Reclassifi cations between items 182   -182 
Acquisition cost 31.12. 1 388 2 994 77 1 001 5 461
      
Cumulative amortization 1.1. -13 -775 -24  -812
Translation difference  1   2
Amortization -239 -343 -28  -610
Cumulative amortization 31.12. -252 -1 117 -51  -1 420
     
Book value 31.12.2005 1 136 1 877 26 1 001 4 040
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15. INVESTMENTS

EUR thousand 31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Acquisition cost 1.1. 3 3
Disposals -3
Acquisition cost 31.12. 0 3

The shares of Agentum Technologies Oy Inc. were sold during the fi nancial year.

16. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

EUR thousand 31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Acquisition cost 1.1. 
Acquisitions through business combinations 3 122
Disposals -484
Revaluation -26
Acquisition cost 31.12 2 612

Shares in a real estate company, the fair value is based on the assessment of an independent realtor.

17. INVENTORIES

EUR thousand 31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Raw materials and consumables 20 9
Inventories total 20 9

FiFo principle has been applied in the measurement of inventories.

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

EUR thousand 31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Trade receivables 11 515 8 037
Loan receivables 19 
Other receivables 456 75
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 1 029 504
Trade and other receivables 13 018 8 616

Income tax receivables 192 43

Based on a case-specifi c risk assessment, an impairment loss of EUR 781 thousand has been entered for sales receivables.

The age distribution of sales receivables included on the balance sheet is the following:
Less than 180 days 10 048 EUR thousand
180–360 days 858 EUR thousand
Over 360 days 609 EUR thousand

Non-overdue sales receivables are included substantially in the sales receivables of less than 180 days.
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19. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

EUR thousand 31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Financial assets at fair value through profi t or loss 5 963 6 612
Other fi nancial assets 5 963 6 612

Fund units have been classifi ed as Financial assets at fair value through profi t or loss and they have been measured according 
to the last quotation of the reporting day. The difference between purchase cost and fair value, EUR 512 thousand on December 
31, 2006, has been entered in fi nance income.

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

EUR thousand 31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Cash and cash equivalents 3 012 3 375
Cash and cash equivalents 3 012 3 375

21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Deferred tax asset 2006
     In  Companies
  Translation In income shareholders’ acquired /
EUR thousand 1.1.2006  difference  statement equity sold 31.12.2006

Losses 2 531 5 82   2 618
IFRS adjustements 50  -31   20
Adjustments of accounting principles 714 -2 151   863
Total 3 296 4 202   3 501
      
Confi rment losses for which a deferred tax asset has not been recognized    802

Deferred tax liabilities 2006
     In  Companies
  Translation In income shareholders’ acquired /
EUR thousand 1.1.2006  difference  statement equity sold 31.12.2006

Allocation of fair value on purchases 283 -3 -172  1 075 1 183
IFRS adjustments   -381 90 414 123
Other accrual differences   -11  166 155
Total 283 -3 -564 90 1 655 1 462
      
Deferred tax asset 2005
     In  Companies
  Translation In income shareholders’ acquired /
EUR thousand 1.1.2005  difference  statement equity sold 31.12.2005

Losses 1 515 1 800  217 2 531
Other accrual differences 50  -50   
IFRS adjustments 115  -64   50
Adjustments of accounting principles 438 -2 278   714
Total 2 118 -1 963  217 3 296
      
Confi rmed losses for which a deferred tax asset has not been recognized    163

Deferred tax liabilities 2005

     In  Companies
  Translation In income shareholders’ acquired /
EUR thousand 1.1.2005  difference  statement equity sold 31.12.2005

Allocation of fair value on purchases   -22  305 283
Total   -22  305 283

I Notes to the Group Financial Statements, IFRS I



32  www.basware.com Financial Statements 2006

According to its strategy, the Company aims at 
profi tability in the Nordic region and at growth in 
Central Europe and the United States in the mid-term. 
Deferred tax receivables have not been entered for all 
losses as it has been estimated that the losses cannot 
be utilized in the near future. The Company estimates, 
that the utilization of tax receivables can be initiated, 
depending on the company, during 2007–2009. When 
defi ning the deferred tax receivables, the tax rate of 
each country has been applied. The sum of such losses 
not entered as deferred tax receivables totals EUR 
2.4 million.

The Company has restated the comparative fi gures 
of the Financial Statements as described in section 2. 
Changes in deferred tax receivables resulting from 
the restatement are presented on a separate row.

22. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCING RISKS
Company’s international operations generate normal 
risks related to fi nancing. The goal of fi nancial risk 
management is to cost effectively ensure the 
Company to have suffi cient fi nancing as well as to 
monitor and if necessary limit the risks by certain 
measures. Risk management is centralized in the 
Group’s fi nance department. The department reports 
to the Company’s Board of Directors at least once a 
year according to the risk management policy.

Currency risk
In addition to the euro zone the company has 
operations in several areas, the most signifi cant ones 
being Sweden, Norway, United Kingdom and United 
States. The company is exposed to exchange rate 

risks in these countries through intra-company trade, 
exports and imports as well as through funding of 
foreign units and currency denominated equities. 
The company did not realize hedging to prepare for 
changes in foreign exchange rates during the fi nancial 
year as the currency risks were not regarded as 
signifi cant.

Interest rate risk
The company had a total of EUR 758 thousand interest 
bearing liabilities at the time of the closing of the 
books. Interest rates of these liabilities have fi xed 
interest rates. The company had interest rate 
investments in short-term interest funds. The effects 
of interest rate changes to the company’s fi nancial 
result are minor and the company did not realize 
hedging during the fi nancial period.

Liquidity risk
The company maintains suffi cient liquidity reserves 
at all times by effi cient cash management structures 
such as cash pools and concentration accounts and by 
maintaining overdraft facilities. Excess cash is invested 
in short-term bank deposits and short-term interest 
funds. The company has a million euro checking 
account limit with fl oating charge as a pledge. This 
limit has not been used.

Credit risks
The company’s sales receivables are spread to a vast 
clientele and do not include signifi cant credit risks. 
Credit decisions are followed and monitored centrally 
in group management. The company has not used 
credit insurances to secure sales receivables.

23. SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY

 Share  Shareholders’ Share premium
EUR thousand number  equity account Total

1.1.2005 8 607 300 2 582 6 000 8 582
Share issue 908 201 272 7 058 7 330
Warrants used 361 757 109 2 073 2 182
Transaction costs for equity   -121 -121
31.12.2005 9 877 258 2 963 15 010 17 973
    
Share issue 1 463 516 439 17 211 17 650
Warrants used 127 350 38 912 950
Transaction costs for equity   -6 -6
31.12.2006 11 468 124 3 440 33 127 36 567
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24. LIABILITIES

EUR thousand 31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Non-current liabilities  
Interest bearing liabilities from fi nancial institutions 316 724
Interest bearing fi nance lease obligations 14 33
Deferred tax liabilities 1 462 283
Non-current liabilities 1 791 1 040
   
Current liabilities  
Interest bearing liabilities from fi nancial institutions 408 400
Interest bearing fi nance lease obligations 20 74
Advances received  118
Trade and other liabilities 1 182 657
Accrued expenses and deferred income 6 616 5 480
Other liabilities 2 158 1 811
Tax liabilities from income 775 352
Current liabilities 11 160 8 892
  
Total liabilities 12 951 9 932

The most signifi cant items of transitional liabilities are the liabilities related to acquisitions, totaling EUR 647 
thousand, holiday pay reserve totaling EUR 2 819 thousand as well as the bonus reserve, totaling EUR 1 807 
thousand.

Loan from fi nancial institution matures as follows: 408 thousand in 2007, 308 thousand in 2008 and 8 thousand 
in 2009. The average interest rate was 3.6 percent in 2006. 

Interest rates of fi nance lease obligations varied between 3.0 and 5.4 percent in 2006.

25. FINANCE LEASE LIABILITIES

EUR thousand 31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Long-term fi nance leases, interest-bearing 15 33
Short-term fi nance leases, interest-bearing 21 74
Finance lease liabilities 35 107

Finance lease liabilities – minimum rentals  
Within a year 31 77
More than one year but no more than 5 years 6 34
Minimum rentals 37 111
Future fi nancing costs related to leasing agreements -1 -4
Finance lease liabilities 35 107
   
Present value of minimum rentals  
Within a year 30 73
More than one year but no more than 5 years 6 33
Future minimum lease payments at present value 35 107
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26. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

EUR thousand 31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Commitments on behalf of subsidiaries

Guarantees 986 746
  
Contingent liabilities  
   
Lease liabilities  
Current lease liabilities 544 541
Lease liabilities maturing in 1–5 years 567 513
Total 1 111 1 054
  
Rental liabilities  
Current rental liabilities 1 334 1 341
Rental liabilities maturing in 1–5 years 3 193 1 618
Total 4 526 2 960
  
Total contingent liabilities 5 638 4 014

27. SHARES IN SUBSIDIARIES

   Group 
Company Domicile  Country holding, %

NextWare Oy Espoo Finland 100
BasWare GmbH Düsseldorf Germany 100
BasWare UK Ltd. Guildford United Kingdom 100
BasWare AB Stockholm Sweden 100
BasWare B.V. Amsterdam The Netherlands 100
BasWare A/S Fredensborg Denmark 100
BasWare, Inc. Delaware United States 100
BasWare SAS Paris France 100
BasWare AS Oslo Norway 100
BasWare eInvoices Oy Espoo Finland 90.3
NextWare Ventures Oy Espoo Finland 100
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Parent Company Income Statement 1.1.–31.12.2006

   1.1.–31.12.2005 
EUR thousand Notes 1.1.–31.12.2006 Restated Change, %

NET SALES 3 35 124 25 476 37.9
    
Other operating income 4 79 7 1043.8
    
Materials and services 5 -1 269 -1 219 4.1
Employee benefi ts expenses 6 -15 709 -11 562 35.9
Depreciation and amortization 7 -1 775 -690 157.3
Other operating expenses  -6 071 -5 057 20.1
Operating profi t  10 380 6 956 49.2
    
Finance income 8 202 265 -23.9
Finance expenses 8 -108 -306 -64.8
Profi t before taxes  10 474 6 915 51.5
    
Income tax expense 9 -2 918 -1 806 61.6
PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD  7 556 5 109 47.9
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   1.1.–31.12.2005 
EUR thousand Notes 1.1.–31.12.2006 Restated Change, %

ASSETS

Non-current assets    
Intangible assets 10 4 840 2 724 77.7
Goodwill 10 16 020  
Tangible assets 11 494 363 36.2
Investments 12 19 800 16 385 20.8
Non-current assets   41 154 19 472 111.4
    
Current assets    
Inventories 13 20 9 125.1
Trade and other receivables 14 16 227 10 582 53.3
Cash and cash equivalents  6 121 7 714 -20.7
Current assets  22 368 18 305 22.2
    
TOTAL ASSETS  63 522 37 776 68.2
      
    
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     
    
Shareholders’ equity    
Share capital  3 440 2 963 16.1
Share premium account  33 058 15 125 118.6
Retained earnings  19 540 13 054 49.7
Shareholders’ equity 15 56 039 31 143 79.9
    
Liabilities    
Deferred tax liabilities 16 155  
Long-term interest bearing liabilities 16 316 700 -54.9
Long-term non-interest bearing liabilities 16 177 177 
Short-term interest bearing liabilities 17 408 400 2.0
Short-term non-interest bearing liabilities 17 6 427 5 357 20.0
Total liabilities  7 483 6 634 12.8
    
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  63 522 37 776 68.2

Parent Company Balance Sheet 31.12.2006
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 1.1.-31.12.2006 1.1.-31.12.2005
EUR thousand  Restated
     
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Profi t for the period 7 556 5 109
Adjustments for profi t 4 568 2 529
Working capital changes -6 146 -2 017

Cash fl ow from operating activities before fi nancial items and taxes 5 977 5 622
Interest paid -45 -51
Interest received 51 28
Other fi nancial items in operating activities -23 -255
Income taxes paid -3 135 -2 957
Net cash from operating activities 2 825 2 388
    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Purchase of tangible and intangible assets -2 553 -1 648
Proceeds from sale of tangible and intangible assets 30 10
Acquired subsidiaries -11 712 -2 236
Disposal of associated companies 23 
Granted loans -1 966 -1 933
Repayments of loan receivables 11 
Net cash used in investing activities -16 166 -5 806

Cash fl ows before fi nancing activities -13 341 -3 418
   
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES     
Proceeds from issuance of share capital  6 880
Share subscription 760 2 176
Repayments of long-term borrowings -400 -468
Dividends paid -1 070 -1 037
Net cash used in fi nancing activities -710 7 551
    
Net change in cash and cash equivalents -14 051 4 133
Cash from mergers of subsidiaries 12 457
Increase (-)/decrease (+) in cash and cash equivalents -1 593 4 133

Net change in cash and cash equivalents according to balance sheet   
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 7 714 3 581
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 6 121 7 714
Net change in cash and cash equivalents -1 593 4 133

Parent Company Cash Flow Statement 1.1.–31.12.2006
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1. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES OF 
THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
BasWare Corp. fi nancial statements for 2005 have 
been prepared according to the Finnish Accounting 
Stardars. The Group has started reporting according 
to the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) on January 1, 2005.

Transactions in foreign currencies  
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at 
the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the 
individual transactions. In practice a rate that is close 
enough to the rate of transaction date is used. At the 
end of the accounting period, the unsettled balances 
on foreign currency receivables and liabilities are 
valued at the rates of exchange prevailing at the end 
of the accounting period. Exchange differences for 
transactions are entered in the appropriate income 
statement account before operating profi t and 
exchange rate differences for fi nancial items are 
entered in net amount to fi nance income and 
expenses. 

Revenue recognition
The sale of licenses is recognized in phases with 
relation to when the usage rights for the software 
have been granted, installation has occurred and the 
delivery has been accepted. The sales are recorded 
when the sales can be defi ned as reliable and the 
fi nancial impact relating to the business operation 
is expected to benefi t the company. Maintenance 
revenue is allocated to a contract period and service 
revenue is recognized at the time of delivery.

Other operating income
Other operating income includes proceeds from the 
sale of fi xed assets and rental revenue. 

Research and development costs 
Research expenses are booked as an expense as they 
are incurred. Product development expenses are 
booked so that development costs of totally new 
products and product versions with signifi cant new 
features are capitalized and amortized. Maintenance 
of existing products and their minor development are 
booked as an expense as they are incurred. Public 
subsidies related to capitalized development expenses 
are deducted from the acquisition cost of the asset. 
Development costs incurred prior to 2004 have been 
booked as annual expenses for the accounting period 
of the occurrence date. 

Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements

Pensions 
The compulsory pension coverage of personnel 
employed by BasWare Corporation (parent company) 
is provided through insurance policies taken out with 
a pension institution. Compulsory pension expenses 
are expensed in the year they are incurred.  

Intangible assets 
Intangible assets include software, goodwill and 
activated research and development costs. 
Intangible assets are entered on the original 
acquisition costs less accumulated depreciation 
according to plan.    

Public subsidies related to the acquisition of 
intangible fi xed asset commodities are deducted 
from the acquisition cost of the asset and recognized 
as income by reducing the depreciation charge of 
the asset they are related to. The useful lives for 
intangible assets are 3 to 6 years.

Tangible assets  
The balance sheet value of tangible assets is stated 
at acquisition costs, less accumulated depreciation. 
The useful lives for tangible assets are 3 to 5 years. 

Leases
In the parent company fi nancial statements leasing 
payments have been entered as annual costs 
according to Finnish Accounting Standards. 

Liquid assets 
Liquid assets include cash, bank accounts and other 
liquid investments. 

Taxes
Income taxes have been booked according to the 
Finnish tax legislation.

2. ADJUSTMENT OF ACCOUNTING 
PRINCIPLES AND RESTATEMENTS 
TO COMPARATIVE FIGURES 
The Group’s accounting principles have been adjusted 
compared with the previously published 2005 
Financial Statements. As a result, the 2005 
comparative fi gures for the Financial Statements 
have been restated.

BasWare has adjusted its accounting principles 
regarding the revenue recognition of license sales 
and sales receivables, as recommended by the new 
auditor. Additionally, BasWare has in some cases 
in the end of the quarters entered license sales as 
revenue based on agreements where the actual 
license delivery has been delayed by some days.
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According to adjustments made to 2005 net sales, the revenue is differed as follows:

Net sales, unrestated 1.1.–31.12.2005  26 579
+ The transfer of net sales from the period 2004 into the year 2005 1 318 
- The transfer of net sales from the period 2005 into the year 2006 2 421 - 1 103
Net sales, restated 1.1.–31.12.2005  25 476

The effects of the restatements to parent company income statement and balance sheet:

INCOME STATEMENT
 1.1.-31.12.2005  1.1.-31.12.2005
EUR thousand Unrestated Restated Restated
   
NET SALES 26 579 -1 103 25 476
   
Other operating income 7  7
Material and services -1 219  -1 219
Employee benefi ts expences -11 562  -11 562
Amortization -690  -690
Other operating expences -5 057  -5 057
Operating profi t 8 058  6 956
   
Finance income 265  265
Finance expences -306  -306
Profi t before tax 8 017  6 915
   
Income tax expence -2 091 286 -1 806
PROFIR FOR THE PERIOD 5 926 -817 5 109

BALANCE SHEET
 31.12.2005  31.12.2005
EUR thousand Unrestated Restated Restated

ASSETS

Intagible assets 2 724  2 724
Tangible assets 363  363
Investments 16 385  16 385
Non-current assets 19 472  19 472

Inventories  9  9
Trade and other receivables 12 971 -2 390 10 582
Cash and cash equivalents 7 714  7 714
Current assets 20 694 -2 390 18 305

ASSETS 40 166 -2 390 37 776
   
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ equity 2 963  2 963
Share capital 15 125  15 125
Share premium account 8 921 -976 7 945
Retained earnings 5 926 -817 5 109

Shareholders’ equity 32 935 -1 793 31 143
Long-term interest bearing liabilities 700  700
Long-term non-interest bearing liabilities 177  177
Short-term interest bearing liabilities 400  400
Short-term non-interest bearing liabilities 5 953 -597 5 357
Liabilities 7 230 -597 6 634

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 40 166 -2 390 37 776
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3. NET SALES   

EUR thousand 2006 2005

Net sales by business branches
   
Product sales and maintenance 25 446 17 371
Services 9 677 8 105
Total 35 124 25 476
  
Net sales by business areas
   
Enterprise Purchase to Pay 28 205 19 578
Financial Management 6 919 5 897
Total 35 124 25 476
  
Net sales by market areas  
  
Domestic 26 513 19 373
Foreign 8 611 6 102
Total 35 124 25 476  

4. OTHER OPERATING INCOME  

EUR thousand 2006 2005
  
Gain on sale of non-current assets 79 7  
Total 79 7  
  

5. MATERIALS AND SERVICES  

EUR thousand 2006 2005
  
Purchases during the fi nancial period -509 -401
Change in inventories 3 -23
Services purchased -762 -795
Total -1 269 -1 219

6. NOTES TO PERSONNEL AND CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE 

EUR thousand 2006 2005
  
Personnel expenses  
  
Salaries paid to CEO and 
the Board of Directors -424 -354
Salaries paid to other personnel -12 465 -9 151
Pension expenses -2 114 -1 488
Other personnel expenses -706 -570
Total -15 709 -11 562
  

Number of personnel  
  
Personnel average for the period 281 220
Personnel at the end of the period 325 229

The pension arrangements of CEO and the Board of Directors 
comply with the local rules. In addition, one member of the 
Board of Directors has a voluntary pension insurance that 
defi nes the retirement age for 58 years.

7. DEPRECIATION AND WRITE-OFFS

EUR thousand 2006 2005

Intangible assets -713 -453
Tangible assets -300 -237
Goodwill -762 
Total -1 775 -690

8. FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

EUR thousand 2006 2005

Interest and other fi nancial income 201 265
Interest and other fi nancial expenses -108 -306
Total 94 -41  
  

9. DIRECT TAXES

EUR thousand 2006 2005

Income taxes on the fi nancial period  
 Income taxes on actual business -2 957 -1 816
Income taxes from previous 
fi nancial periods 39 10
Total -2 918 -1 806

Notes to the Income Statement
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10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS   

EUR thousand 2006 2005

Intangible rights   
Book value 1.1. 2 724 2 451
Increase for the fi nancial period 3 519 1 496
Book value 31.12. 6 243 3 947
  
Accumulated depreciation 1.1. -1 223 -770
Amortization for the fi nancial period -180 -453
Accumulated amortization 31.12. -1403 -1 223
Balance sheet value 31.12. 4 840 2 724

Goodwill   
Book value 1.1. 29 29
Book value 31.12. 16 811 29
  
Accumulated amortization 1.1. -791 -29
Accumulated amortization 31.12. -762 -29
Balance sheet value 31.12. 16 020 0

Notes to the Balance Sheet

11. TANGIBLE ASSETS   

EUR thousand 2006 2005

Book value 1.1. 1 924 1 770
Increase for the fi nancial period 1 074 188
Decrease for the fi nancial period -81 -35
Book value 31.12. 2 917 1 924
  
Accumulated amortization 1.1. -1 534 -1 324
Amortization for the period -889 -237
Accumulated amortization 31.12. -2 423 -1 561
Balance sheet value 31.12. 494 363
  
Total fi xed assets 21 354 3 087

12. INVESTMENTS   

EUR thousand 2006 2005

Shares in group companies
Book value 1.1. 5 130 421
Increase for the fi nancial period 28 870 4 709
Decrease for the fi nancial period -29 669
Book value 31.12. 4 330 5 130

Shares in affi liated companies
Book value 1.1. 3 3
Book value 31.12. 0 3

Other receivables   
Receivables from group companies 13 179 11 252

Shares in subsidiaries
    Parent company 
Company Dominicle Country holding, %

NextWare Oy Espoo Finland 100
BasWare GmbH Düsseldorf Germany 100
BasWare UK Ltd. Guildford United Kingdom 100
BasWare AB Stockholm Sweden 100
BasWare B.V. Amsterdam The Netherlands 100
BasWare A/S Fredensborg Denmark 100
BasWare, Inc. Delaware United States 100
BasWare SAS Paris France 100
BasWare AS Oslo Norway 100
Trivet Software Oy Pori Finland 100
BasWare eInvoices Oy Espoo Finland 90.3
NextWare Ventures Oy Espoo Finland 100
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13. INVENTORIES   

EUR thousand 2006 2005

Raw materials and consumables 20 9
Total 20 9

14. SHORT-TERM RECEIVABLES   

EUR thousand 2006 2005

Accounts receivable 4 322 2 468
Accounts receivable from group 
companies 11 234 7 400
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 320 656
Other receivables 351 58
Total 16 227 10 582

15. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY   

EUR thousand 2006 2005

Share capital 1.1. 2 963 2 582
Increase for the fi nancial period 477 381
Share capital 31.12 3 440 2 963
  
Share premium account 1.1. 15 125 6 000
Increase for the fi nancial period 17 933 9 125
Share premium account 31.12. 33 058 15 125
  
Retained earnings 1.1. 13 054 8 982
Dividend payment -1 070 -1 037
Profi t for the period 7 556 5 109
Retained earnings 31.12. 19 540 13 054
Shareholders’ equity 31.12. 56 039 31 143

Specifi cation of distributable funds
Profi t for the period 7 556 5 109
Retained earnings 11 984 7 945
Distributable funds 19 540 13 054

16. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES  

EUR thousand 2006 2005

Long-term debts 471 700
Long-term debts to group companies 177 177
Total 648 877

17. SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES  

EUR thousand 2006 2005

Non-interest bearing short-term liabilities  
Accounts payable 453 260
Accounts payable to group companies 170 119
Other debts 1074 733
Accrued expenses and deferred income 4730 4245
Total 6 427 5 357

Interest bearing short-term liablities  
Amortization of long-term debts 408 400

18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT 
LIABILITIES  

EUR thousand 2006 2005

Commitments on behalf of subsidiaries 986 746

Contingent liabilities  
Leasing liabilities  
 Current lease liabilities 200 188
 Lease liabilities maturing in 1–5 years 124 137
Rental liabilities  
 Current rental liabilities 914 788
 Rental liabilities maturing in 1–5 years 2 523 948
  
Check account credit limit 1 000 (not in use)  
Floating charge given as collateral  
  
The group does not have pledges, mortgages or guarantees 
on behalf of external parties.  

I Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements, FAS I
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Board’s Dividend Proposal

Distributable funds according to the balance sheet on December 31, 2006 are EUR 19 540 493.24
 

BasWare’s Board of Directors proposes that from the fi nancial year 2006, a dividend of EUR 0.15 per share 
(2005: EUR 0.10) be paid, a total of EUR 1 720 218.60 with the number of shares at the end of the fi nancial period. 

According to the Board’s resolution the record date of dividend distribution is March 1, 2007. 
The Board proposes to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders that dividend will be paid after 

the record period on March 8, 2007.

In Espoo, Finland, February 7, 2007

 Hannu Vaajoensuu Kirsi Eräkangas Ossi Pohjola
 Chairman of the Board 

 Asko Ahonen Antti Pöllänen Tom Bangemann

Ilkka Sihvo
CEO

I Board’s Dividend Proposal I
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Auditors´ Report 

To the shareholders of Basware Corporation 
We have audited the accounting records, the fi nancial 
statements, the report of the Board of Directors and 
the administration of Basware Corporation for the 
period 1 January – 31 December 2006. The Board of 
Directors and the Managing Director have prepared 
the consolidated fi nancial statements, prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, as well as 
the report of the Board of Directors and the parent 
company’s fi nancial statements, prepared in 
accordance with prevailing regulations in Finland, 
containing the parent company’s balance sheet, 
income statement, cash fl ow statement and notes 
to the fi nancial statements. Based on our audit, we 
express an opinion on the consolidated fi nancial 
statements, as well as on the parent company’s 
fi nancial statements, the report of the Board of 
Directors and the administration. The fi nancial 
statements for the fi nancial period of 2005 have 
been audited by Authorised Public Accountants 
Pricewaterhousecoopers Oy, who issued an 
unqualifi ed auditor’s report, dated 19 January 2006.

The audit has been conducted in accordance with 
generally accepted auditing standards. In our audit 
we have examined the bookkeeping and accounting 
principles, contents and presentation with suffi cient 
scope in order to evaluate that the fi nancial 
statements and the report of the Board of Directors 
are free of material misstatements or defi ciencies. 
In our audit of the administration we have evaluated 
whether the members of the Board of Directors and 
the Managing Director of the parent company have 
complied with the rules of the Companies Act.

Consolidated fi nancial statements
In our opinion the consolidated fi nancial statements 
give a true and fair view, as defi ned in IFRS as 
adopted by the EU and as defi ned in the Finnish 
Accounting Act, of the consolidated result of 
operations and of the fi nancial position. The 
consolidated fi nancial statements can be adopted.

Parent company’s fi nancial statements, 
report of the Board of Directors and 
administration 
In our opinion the parent company’s fi nancial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the Finnish Accounting Act and other applicable 
Finnish rules and regulations. The parent company’s 
fi nancial statements give a true and fair view, as 
defi ned in the Finnish Accounting Act, of the parent 
company’s result of operations and of the fi nancial 
position.

In our opinion the report of the Board of Directors 
has been prepared in accordance with the Finnish 
Accounting Act and other applicable Finnish rules 
and regulations. The report of the Board of Directors 
is consistent with the fi nancial statements. The 
report of the Board of Directors, together with the 
consolidated fi nancial statements and the parent 
company’s fi nancial statements, gives a true and fair 
view, as defi ned in the Finnish Accounting Act, of 
the consolidated and parent company’s result of 
operations and of the fi nancial position.

The parent company’s fi nancial statements can be 
adopted and the members of the Board of Directors 
and the Managing Director of the parent company 
can be discharged from liability for the period 
audited by us. The proposal by the Board of Directors 
regarding the disposal of distributable funds is in 
compliance with the Companies Act.

Comparative information of the fi nancial 
statements
We have additionally audited the adjustments 
described in the note number 2. to the fi nancial 
statements, used to restate the year 2005 
comparative information. In our opinion the 
adjustments are necessary and free of material 
misstatements or defi ciencies.

Interim fi nancial reports
The company has on 1 February 2007 published 
restated income statement and balance sheet 
information for the 2006 interim fi nancial reports 
with comparative information. In our understanding 
the adjustments are necessary and free of material 
misstatements or defi ciencies.

Helsinki, 7 February 2007 

Deloitte & Touche Ltd
Authorised Public Accountants

Eero Lumme
Authorised Public Accountant

I Auditors’ Report I
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GROUP KEY FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

 IFRS IFRS IFRS FAS FAS 
 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
EUR thousand  Restated
     
Net sales 59 954 41 666 33 891 25 597 20 263
Growth of net sales, % 43.9%   26.3% 63.4%
Operating profi t 8 078 3 611 6 256 1 133 1 370
Growth of operating profi t, % 123.7%   -17.3% 252.4%
% of net sales 13.5% 8.7% 18.5% 4.4% 6.8%
Profi t before tax 8 287 3 647 6 119 1 031 1 505
% of net sales 13.8% 8.8% 18.1% 4.0% 7.4%
Profi t for the period 4 986 2 229 4 018 564 886
% of net sales 8.3% 5.4% 11.9% 2.2% 4.4%
     
Return on equity, % 15.1% 13.9% 38.3% 5.6% 9.2%
Return on investment, % 24.7% 21.4% 50.8% 10.2% 15.2%
Interest bearing liabilities  758 1 230 1 645 2 075 282
Cash and liquid assets  8 975 9 987 5 789 3 633 2 538
Gearing, % -18.4% -41.1% -34.1% -15.4% -22.7%
Equity ratio, % 77.5% 68.2% 58.8% 63.0% 74.3%
Total assets 57 558 31 228 20 680 16 003 13 392
     
Gross investments *) 25 315 6 925 1 688 489 2 163
% of net sales 42.2% 16.6% 5.0% 1.5% 10.7%
Capital expenditure 597 749 626 489 2 163
% of net sales 1.0% 1.8% 1.8% 1.5% 10.7%
Research and development costs 10 925 6 204 4 604 4 113 3 535
% of net sales 18.2% 14.9% 13.6% 16.1% 17.5%
R&D personnel at end of period 138 86 65 59 59
     
Personnel average for period 514 363 280 256 205
Personnel at end of period 528 395 302 254 244
Growth of personnel, % 33.7% 30.8% 18.9% 4.1% 45.2%

*) Includes acquisitions and capitalized R&D costs.

Key Figures 2002–2006

I Key Figures I

Group Share Indicators
 IFRS IFRS IFRS FAS FAS 
 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
EUR thousand  Restated
     
Earnings per share, EUR (undiluted) 0.45 0.24 0.47 0.07 0.10
Earnings per share, EUR (diluted) 0.44 0.23 0.47 0.07 0.10
Equity per share, EUR 3.88 2.16 1.41 1.18 1.16
Dividend per share, EUR 0.15*) 0.10 0.12 0.12 0.05
Dividend per profi t, % 33.6% 42.4% 25.6% 182.1% 48.3%
Effective dividends, % 1.1% 0.8% 1.5% 2.0% 1.1%
P/E ratio 29.24 53.54 16.58 92.55 43.44
Share price performance, share issue adjusted     
 lowest share price, EUR 11.21 7.70 6.10 3.63 3.50
 highest share price, EUR 15.25 13.00 10.10 6.42 6.10
  average share price, EUR 13.09 9.85 7.83 4.83 5.14
  closing share price, EUR 13.05 12.62 7.78 6.10 4.50
Share issue adjusted average 
share number 31.12. 11 468 124 9 877 258 8 607 300 8 550 600 8 550 600
Market value of shares 31.12., EUR 149 659 018 124 650 996 66 964 794 52 158 660 38 477 700
Share issue adjusted number of traded shares 5 534 522 3 666 939 1 981 098 658 514 701 223
% of average share number 49.5% 38.8% 23.1% 7.7% 8.2% 
Average share number:     
- undiluted 11 172 612 9 458 460 8 560 697 8 550 600 8 550 600
- diluted 11 221 052 9 582 816 8 634 413 8 552 575 8 562 526

*) Board’s proposal to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.
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Calculation of Key Indicators, IFRS

Return on equity (ROE), %
Profi t before extraordinary items, reserves and taxes – taxes x 100
Shareholders’ equity (average) 

Return on investment (ROI), %
Profi t before extraordinary items, reserves and taxes + interest and other fi nancial expenses x 100
Balance sheet total - non-interest bearing liabilities (average)

Gearing, %
Interest bearing liabilities - cash and bank balances x 100
Shareholders’ equity

Equity ratio, %
Shareholders’ equity x 100
Balance sheet total – advances received

Earnings per share
Profi t for the period
Adjusted number of shares over the fi nancial year (average)

Equity per share
Shareholders’ equity
Adjusted number of shares at the end of the fi nancial period

Dividend per share
Total dividend
Adjusted number of shares at the end of the fi nancial period

Dividend / profi t, %
Dividend per share x 100
Earnings per share

Effective dividend yield, %
Dividend per share x 100
Adjusted share price at the end of the fi nancial period

Price-earnings ratio (P/E)
Adjusted share price at the end of the fi nancial period
Earnings per share
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 1–3/06  1–3/05  4–6/06  4–6/05  7–9/06 7–9/05    10–12/05
EUR thousand  Restated  Restated Restated  Restated  Restated  Restated  10–12/06 Restated

NET SALES 15 432 8 136 14 651 11 879 13 363 10 827 16 508 10 823
        
Other operating income 41 21 61 13 25 13 50 13
        
Materials and services -778 -694 -689 -1 031 -468 -778 -658 -669
Employee benefi ts expenses -8 259 -4 743 -8 710 -6 375 -6 942 -4 847 -9 042 -6 604
Depreciation and amortization -453 -217 -488 -267 -520 -316 -572 -277
Other operating expenses -3 454 -2 360 -3 578 -2 953 -2 963 -2 794 -4 479 -3 190
Operating profi t 2 529 143 1 247 1 266 2 495 2 105 1 807 97
% 16.4% 1.8% 8.5% 10.7% 18.7% 19.4% 10.9% 0.9%
        
Finance income 138 23 48 40 56 39 66 44
Finance expenses -60 -18 -8 -28 12 -25 -43 -40
Profi t before tax 2 606 148 1 287 1 278 2 563 2 119 1 831 101
% 16.9% 1.8% 8.8% 10.8% 19.2% 19.6% 11.1% 0.9%
        
Tax on income from operations -613 -336 -486 -179 -898 -441 -1 304 -462
PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 1 994 -188 801 1 099 1 665 1 679 526 -361
% 12.9% -2.3% 5.5% 9.3% 12.5% 15.5% 3.2% 3.3%

Group Quarterly Income Statement, IFRS
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Share and Shareholders

Share
The BasWare share has been listed on the Helsinki 
Stock Exchange (HEX) since February 29, 2000. 
The listing price of the share was EUR 5.70. BasWare 
transferred to the Main List of the stock exchange 
on October 19, 2004, and the share is listed in the 
Information Technology business sector. The 
company code on the stock exchange is BAS. 
BasWare has one series of share and the trading 
code for the share is BAS1V. 

At the end of 2006, the total number of shares was 
11 468 124 (9 877 258). The book counter value per 
share is EUR 0.30. All the shares carry one vote and 
an equal right to dividend.

Share Capital
BasWare’s share capital at the end of 2006 was 
EUR  3 440 437.20. According to the Articles of 
Association, BasWare’s minimum share capital is 
EUR 2 000 000 and maximum share capital is EUR 
8 000 000. Within these limits, the share capital 
can be increased or decreased without amending 
the Articles of Association. 

In 2006, the share capital was increased with EUR 
477 259.80, which is equivalent of 1 590 866 shares.

 Number of shares Share capital, EUR

Share capital 1.1.2006 9 877 258 2 963 177.40
Directed offering 31.1. +820 001 246 000.30
Directed offering 8.3. +643 515 193 054.50
Share subscriptions based on warrants 21.4. +7 500 2 250
Share subscriptions based on warrants 20.7. +119 850 35 955
Share capital 31.12.2006 11 468 124 3 440 437.20  

Share Price Performance and Trading
During 2006, the highest price of the share on the 
Helsinki Stock Exchange was EUR 15.25 (EUR 13.00) 
and the lowest price EUR 11.21 (EUR 6.10). On the last 
day of trading in 2006, BasWare’s closing rate was 
EUR 13.05 (EUR 9.85). The average price of the share 
in 2006 was EUR 13.09 (EUR 9.85). Market 

capitalization with the period’s closing price was 
EUR 149 659 018 (EUR 124 650 996). A total number 
of 5 534 522 shares were traded during 2006 (3 666 
939 in 2005) which is the equivalent of 48 percent 
(39%) of the average number of shares.

Share price performance and volumes in 2006
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The Board of Directors’ Authorizations
The Board of Directors authorization for share issue 
is in effect until February 14, 2007. According to the 
authorization, the share capital can be increased with 
a maximum of EUR 641 835.30 and 2 139 451 new 
shares. Based on the authorization, two directed 
offerings were carried out in March 2006 and a new 
warrant program launched in April 2006. The share 
capital can still be increased by EUR 170 635.80 and 
568 786 new shares. 

BasWare Corporation does not own BasWare shares 
and the Board does not have the authorization to 
purchase BasWare’s shares.

Warrant Programs
BasWare currently has one on-going warrant program 
initiated in 2006. The subscription period of 
BasWare’s other warrant program, launched in 2002, 
ended on June 30, 2006. A total of 127 350 shares 
were subscribed with the program in 2006.

Warrant Program 2006
BasWare Corporation’s Board of Directors resolved, 
based on the authorization given by the Annual 
General Meeting of Shareholders on February 15, 
2006, to grant warrants to the key personnel of 
BasWare Group. The terms and conditions of the 
program have been published as a stock exchange 
release on April 10, 2006. 

Based on the warrant program, a maximum of 300 
000 warrants can be issued, each warrant entitles to 
subscribe one BasWare share. The warrants of the 
Warrant Program 2006 are divided into three series, 
each having an own subscription period as follows: 
Series A on April 1, 2008-March, 31 2009, Series B on 
April 1, 2009-March 31, 2010 and Series C on April 1, 
2010-March 31, 2011. The subscription prices of the 
shares correspond to the volume-weighted average 
share price of the Company in January-March of 
2006 (series A), 2007 (series B) and 2008 (series C). 
The value-weighted average share price of the 
Company in January-March 2006 (series A) was 
EUR 13.35.

Warrant Program Finland II 2002–2006   
On July 11, 2002 based on the Annual General 
Meeting’s authorization, the BasWare Board of 
Directors resolved to grant warrants for the 
employees of BasWare Corporation and its 
subsidiaries. The number of warrants issued was 
210 000 and they entitled to subscribe a total of 
210 000 BasWare Corporation’s shares. The 
subscription period with all warrants ended on 
June 30, 2006, and a total of 160 030 shares 
were subscribed with program.

  Subscription Subscription Subscription Subscriptions Subscriptions Unsubscribed
 Number price period starts period ends in 2005 in 2006 (nullifi ed)

Series A 60 000 5.51 1.7.2003 30.6.2006 12 680 37 000 7 320
Series B 70 000 4.67 1.7.2004 30.6.2006 11 000 27140 28 860
Series C 80 000 6.79 1.7.2005 30.6.2006 3 000 63 210 13 790

I Share and Shareholders I
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Shareholders
At the end of 2006, BasWare had 19 759 (21 679) 
shareholders. Nominee registered holdings 

represented 12.3 percent of the share capital. There 
were no notices in change of ownership in 2006.

Distribution of holdings by number of shares December 31, 2006
 Number of Shares and votes
  holdings % Number

1–100 16 289 3.30  378 270  
101–1 000 3 108 8.44  968 292  
1 001–10 000 312 6.86  786 377  
10 001–100 000 28 9.94  1 139 700  
100 001 + 22 71.46  8 195 485  
Total 19 759 100  11 468 124  

Distribution by sector December 31, 2006
 Number of Shares and votes
  holdings % Number

Private companies 746  6.46  740 902 
Financial and insurance institutions 45  14.55  1 668 650 
Public-sector organizations 6  2.00  229 750 
Non-profi t organizations 29  0.89  101 436 
Households 18 882  63.48  7 279 711   
Foreigners 51  0.31  35 693   
 19 750  87.69  10 056 142 
Nominee-registered 9  12.31  1 411 982 
Total 19 759  100 11 468 124

I Share and Shareholders I
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Major shareholders December 31, 2006
   Number of  votes,
31.12.2006  shares  %

1. Sihvo, Ilkka  1 065 800  9.3
2. Vaajoensuu, Hannu   1 045 800  9.1
 Vaajoensuu, Hannu  528 000  4.6%
 Havacment Oy  278 500  2.4%
 Vaajoensuu, Matias  79 800  0.7%
 Vaajoensuu, Petra  79 800  0.7%
 Vaajoensuu Sara  79 700  0.7% 
3. Eräkangas, Kirsi   1 031 800  9.0
 Eräkangas, Kirsi  721 400  6.3%
 Eräkangas, Lotta  310 400  2.7% 
4. Pöllänen, Antti   830 900  7.2
 Pöllänen, Antti  580 100  5.1%
 Launimo, Essi  250 800  2.1% 
5. Perttunen, Sakari  830 400  7.2
6. Nordea Small cap Fund  452 997  4.0
7. Ahonen, Asko  333 822  2.9
8. Perttunen, Meimi  215 400  1.9
9. Luoto, Matti  199 450  1.7
10. Royal Skandia Life Assurance  180 000  1.6
11. Veritas Pension Insurance Company   176 000  1.6
12. Henki-Sampo Pension Insurance Company   155 000  1.4
13. Fondita Nordic Small Cap Fund  155 000  1.4
14. Evli-Select Fund    130 300  1.1
15. Sarvala, Vesa  122 741  1.0
16. OP-Suomi Pienyhtiöt  106 600  0.9
17. Kaleva Mutual Insurance Fund   93 800  0.8
18. Nordea Fennia Plus Fund  86 000  0.7
19. Fides Fund Management Company  76 100  0.7
20. Aktia Secura Fund   60,000  0.5
 
 20 largest shareholders total  7 347 910  64.1
Total of nominee-registered  1 411 982  12.3
Others  2 708 832  23.6
Total  11 468 124  100.0

I Share and Shareholders I
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CEO Ilkka Sihvo
Tel. +358 9 8791 7251

Communications Manager Susanna Marklund
Tel. +358 9 8791 7284

IR@basware.com

BasWare Corporation
Linnoitustie 2, Cello Building

P.O. Box 97, 02601 Espoo, Finland
Tel. +358 9 879 171, Fax +358 9 8791 7297

www.basware.com


